
West Devon Hub 
Committee

Title: Agenda
Date: Tuesday, 21st September, 2021

Time: 2.00 pm

Venue: Chamber - Kilworthy Park

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Jory
Vice Chairman Cllr Cheadle

Members: Cllr Edmonds
Cllr Mott
Cllr Leech
Cllr Pearce

Cllr Crozier
Cllr Daniel
Cllr Ratcliffe

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Democratic.Services@swdevon.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



Page No

1.  Apologies for absence 

2.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such 
interests they may have in any items to be considered at this 
meeting.

If Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination, 
bias or interests in items on this Agenda, then please contact the 
Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.

3.  Items Requiring Urgent Attention

To consider those items which, in the opinion of the Chairman, 
should be considered by the Meeting as matters of urgency (if 
any)

4.  Confirmation of Minutes 1 - 4

Minutes of meeting held on 13 July 2021

5.  Public Questions

a period of up to 15 minutes is available to deal with issues 
raised by the public

6.  Hub Committee Forward Plan 5 - 10

7.  A Plan for West Devon

Report to follow

8.  ORCS Funding - Electric Car Charging Points 11 - 18

9.  Section 106 Agreement Expenditure 19 - 34

10.  Medium Term Financial Strategy for the Three Years 
2022/23 to 2024/25

Report to follow

11.  Month 4 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2021/2022 35 - 50

12.  Capital Budget Monitoring 2021/2022 51 - 64



Page No

13.  Planning Improvement Plan 65 - 82

14.  Waste Collection Frequency Trial 83 - 88



This page is intentionally left blank



At a Meeting of the HUB COMMITTEE held in the Council Chamber, Kilworthy Park, 
Tavistock on TUESDAY the 13th day of July 2021 at 2:00 pm

Present: Cllr N Jory – Chairman
Cllr R Cheadle – Vice Chairman

Cllr P Crozier Cllr L Daniel
Cllr C Edmonds Cllr A F Leech
Cllr C Mott Cllr T G Pearce
Cllr B Ratcliffe

In attendance:       Chief Executive
Deputy Chief Executive
Head of Strategy and Projects
Head of Development Management

Other Members in attendance:
Cllrs Heyworth and Hipsey

*HC 11/21 APOLOGIES
There were no apologies for absence received for this meeting.

*HC 12/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members were invited to declare any interests in the items of business to be 
discussed and there were none made.

*HC 13/21    MINUTES
The Minutes of the Hub Committee meeting held on 8 June 2021 were 
confirmed as a correct record. 

*HC 14/21 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
It was noted that no Questions had been received in accordance with the Hub 
Committee Procedure Rules.

*HC 15/21 HUB COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN
Members were presented with the Hub Committee Forward Plan that set out 
items on the agenda for Hub Committee meetings for the next four months.  

In discussion, it was agreed that the Leader would discuss with officers the 
need to schedule in further reports on aspects of the ‘Plan for West Devon’ 
once it had been adopted by Full Council at its 28 September 2021 meeting.

HC 16/21 DEVELOPMENT OF THE DRAFT ‘A PLAN FOR WEST DEVON’
The Committee was presented with a report that set out the draft Corporate 
Strategy ‘A Plan for West Devon’ and timeline for the next steps, with a view 
to ultimate adoption of the final Strategy in September 2021.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



The Leader introduced the draft Plan and stated that it currently represented 
a high level vision that was deliberately scant on detail.  It was the intention of 
the Leader for the detail to be included as part of a series of draft Delivery 
Plans that would be appended to the draft ‘Plan for West Devon’ and would be 
considered by the Hub Committee at its next meeting on 14 September 2021 
before onward consideration at the Full Council meeting to be held on 28 
September 2021.

In discussion, the following points were raised:-

(a) Prior to being published for consultation, Members requested that the final 
draft Plan be both proofread by an individual outside of the Council (thereby 
helping to ensure that it was understandable to the public) and, in the final 
version to be considered in September, ensure that images used 
throughout the document were reflective of the diversity of the Borough;

(b) A number of Members paid tribute to the presentation, design and layout 
of the draft Plan which was felt to be excellent;

(c) A Member felt that there was a need for the delivery plans to be realistic 
and to not set out unobtainable targets.  Furthermore, another Member felt 
that it would be useful to outline matters (e.g. highways) that were outside 
of the remit of the Borough Council and state which partner organisation 
were responsible for such matters.

It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED to: 

1. officers be instructed to commence a formal public consultation exercise 
on the draft ‘Plan for West Devon’ in line with the adopted Community 
Consultation and Engagement Strategy; and

2. the Chief Executive and the Director of Governance and Assurance be 
instructed to develop delivery plans for the Strategy, for consideration by 
the Hub Committee alongside the final Strategy at its meeting on 21 
September 2021 before their onward consideration by Full Council on 28 
September 2021. 

*HC 17/21 DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21
A report was considered that presented the Council’s draft Annual Report for 
2020/21.

In discussion, reference was made to:-

(a) Anti-Social Behaviour referrals.  In response to a specific question, it was 
agreed that the matter of Anti-Social Behaviour referrals would be raised 
at the time when the Community Safety Partnership presented its annual 
report to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee;

(b) the achievements of the Council in such a difficult year.  Members felt that 
the Council should be congratulated for its achievements and stable 
financial management in what had been an unprecedented difficult year as 
a result of the pandemic. 

Page 2



It was then RESOLVED that:

1. the progress and achievements made by the Council be noted; and

2. the West Devon Borough Council Draft Annual Report (as set out at 
Appendix A of the presented agenda report) be considered for the financial 
year 2020/21, with any amendments being suggested prior to publication 
of the final report.

*HC 18/21 PLANNING SERVICE REVIEW – VERBAL UPDATE
The lead Hub Committee Member introduced her verbal update and advised 
the meeting that:

- a service review had been invoked to deliver improvements in service 
performance and quality;

- an Improvement Plan had been drafted and a Review Board established;
- a report on the outcome of the Review would be presented to a meeting of 

the Hub Committee in the Autumn;
- whilst not a formal review undertaken by the Planning Advisory Service 

(PAS), the organisation was providing some support on: improving 
customer service and communication and the delivery of the Improvement 
Plan;

- progress was being made in the recruitment of officers to fill the vacancies 
in both planning enforcement and development management;

- the validation process was critical.  The lead Member advised that 
extensive officer time was wasted as a result of over 50% of planning 
applications being invalid and, in recognition of the importance of 
validation, an additional 2 Case Managers had been assigned to support 
the process;

- the backlog of planning applications was currently reducing;
- further improvements were anticipated in line with the roll-out of the new IT 

system;
- the pre-application process was being reviewed;
- a Memorandum of Understanding with town and parish councils was being 

drafted for consultation; and
- the relationship with the Council’s internal consultees was also being 

reviewed and the support that was being provided by Ecology Officers at 
Devon County Council was already realising benefits.

In debate, the following points were raised:-

(a) Based upon recent experiences, Members expressed their wish that, 
wherever possible, work was kept in-house and not outsourced;

(b) It was noted that the matter of invalid planning applications was a national 
issue.  In terms of mitigating measures, holding a workshop with planning 
agents and retaining an administrative (cost recovery) fee from invalid 
applications were currently being considered;

(c) The pre-application process was felt to be a very important component on 
the planning service.

(The meeting terminated at 2.45 pm)Page 3



_____________
Chairman

(NOTE: THESE DECISIONS WILL BECOME EFFECTIVE FROM THURSDAY, 22 JULY 
2021, WITH THE EXCEPTION OF MINUTE HC 16/21 WHICH IS A RECOMMENDATION 
TO THE COUNCIL MEEITNG TO BE HELD ON 20 JULY 2021, UNLESS CALLED IN, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULE 18)

Page 4



 
 

 
Hub Committee Forward Plan – September 2021 | 1 

Hub Committee Forward Plan  

About the Forward Plan 

This is the provisional forward plan for at least four months starting September 2021.  It provides an indicative 

date for matters to be considered by the Hub Committee.   Where possible, the Hub Committee will keep to the 

dates shown in the plan.  However, it may be necessary for some items to be rescheduled and other items added.  

The forward plan is published to publicise consultation dates and enable dialogue between the Hub Committee 

and all Councillors, the public, and other stakeholders. It will also assist the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee in planning their contribution to policy development and holding the Hub Committee to account.   

The Plan is published on the Council’s website (www.westdevon.gov.uk)   

 

About the Hub Committee 

The Hub Committee currently consists of nine Councillors. Each has responsibility for a particular area of the 

Council’s work. 

 Leader of the Council – Cllr Neil Jory 

 Deputy Leader – Cllr Ric Cheadle 

 Lead Hub Member for the Economy - Cllr P Crozier  

 Lead Hub Member for the Natural Environment - Cllr L Daniel  

 Lead Hub Member for Resources - Cllr C Edmonds  

 Lead Hub Member for Leisure, Health and Wellbeing - Cllr A F Leech  

 Lead Hub Member for the Built Environment - Cllr C Mott  

 Lead Hub Member for Communities - Cllr T Pearce  

 Lead Hub Member for Housing – Cllr B Ratcliffe 
 

Further information on the workings of the Hub Committee, including latest information on agenda items, can be 
obtained by contacting Democratic Services on 01803 861105 or by e-mail to 
democratic.services@swdevon.gov.uk  
 
 
All items listed in this Forward Plan will be discussed in public at the relevant meeting, unless otherwise 

indicated with * 

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

mailto:democratic.services@swdevon.gov.uk


 
 

 
Hub Committee Forward Plan – September 2021 | 2 

Forward Plan from September 2021 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

Council Title: A Plan for West Devon 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the consultation 
responses on the draft ‘A Plan 
for West Devon’ prior to 
onward consultation by Full 
Council. 

Cllr Jory / Andy 
Bates 

Report of the Chief 
Executive 

21 September 
2021 

 

Natural 
Environment 

Title: ORCS Funding - Electric 
Charging Points  

Purpose: To consider a report 
that seeks permission to enter 
into a long term lease to 
provide additional Electric Car 
Charging Points in Council Car 
Parks. 

Cllr Daniel / 
Emma 
Widdicombe 

Report of the Senior 
Specialist Car 
Parking and Waste 
Conveniences 

21 September 
2021 

 

Resources 
and 
Performance 

Title: Section 106 Agreement 
Expenditure 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that outlines the latest position 
in respect of Section 106 
Agreement Expenditure. 

Cllr Edmonds / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of the 
Section 151 Officer 

21 September 
2021 

 

Council Title:  Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the three years 
2022/23 to 2024/25 

Purpose: To set the strategic 
intention for all of the different 
strands of funding available to 
the Council. This brings 
together all known factors 
affecting the Council’s financial 
position and its financial 
sustainability, to provide a long 
term financial forecast. 

Cllr Jory / Lisa 
Buckle 

Report of S151 
Officer 

21 September 
2021 

 

Resources & 
Performance 

Title: Revenue Budget 
Monitoring Report to Month 4 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the Revenue 

Cllr Edmonds / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of Section 
151 Officer 

21 September 
2021 

 

Page 6



 
 

 
Hub Committee Forward Plan – September 2021 | 3 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

Budget Monitoring Report to 
Month 4. 

Resources & 
Performance 

Title: Capital Programme 
Monitoring Report to Month 4 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the Capital 
Programme Monitoring Report 
to Month 4. 

Cllr Edmonds / 
Pauline 
Henstock 

Report of Head of 
Finance 

21 September 
2021 

 

Natural 
Environment 

Title: Waste Collections 
Frequency 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that details the potential 
income / costs and national 
waste strategy impacts so that 
a final decision can be made on 
whether a three-weekly refuse 
collection should be 
implemented throughout the 
Borough. 

Cllr Daniel / 
Jane Savage 

Report of the Head 
of Commissioning 
and Contracts 

21 September 
2021 

 

Built 
Environment 

Title: Planning Service Review 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents a Service 
Improvement Plan for the 
approval of the Hub 
Committee. 

Cllr Mott / 
Steve 
Mullineaux 

Report of the 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 

21 September 
2021 

 

Housing and 
Benefits 

Title: Implementation of a 
New Tenancy Strategy 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that seeks to implement a new 
Tenancy Strategy that will 
supersede the current out of 
date version. 

Cllr Ratcliffe / 
Cassandra 
Harrison 

Report of the 
Specialist – 
Affordable Housing 

2 November 
2021 

 

Leisure, 
Health and 
Wellbeing 

Title: Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 

Purpose: To seek approval to 
undertake a public consultation 

Cllr Leech / Issy 
Blake 

Head of Housing, 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

2 November 
2021 

 

Page 7



 
 

 
Hub Committee Forward Plan – September 2021 | 4 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

exercise on a revised Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme.  

Economy Title: Regeneration and 
Investment Strategy 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents a draft 
Regeneration and Investment 
Strategy. 

Cllr Crozier / 
Chris Brook 

Report of Director of 
Place and Enterprise 

2 November 
2021 

 

Resources 
and 
Performance 

Title: Write Off Report for 
Quarters 1 and 2 

Purpose: The Council is 
responsible for the collection 
of: Housing Rents, Sundry 
Debts including Housing 
Benefit Overpayments, Council 
Tax and National Non-Domestic 
Rates. The report informs 
Members of the debt written 
off for these revenue streams. 

Cllr Edmonds /  
Lisa Buckle 

Report of Strategic 
Finance Lead 

2 November 
2021 

 

Leisure, 
Health and 
Wellbeing 

Title: Leisure Update 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that seeks to present a Leisure 
Update to the Hub Committee. 

Cllr Leech / 
Chris Brook 

Report of Director of 
Place and Enterprise 

2 November 
2021 

 

Council Title:  Draft Revenue Budget 
Proposals 2022/23 

Purpose:  To consider a report 
that presents for consultation a 
set of draft Revenue Budget 
proposals for 2022/23. 

Cllr Jory / Lisa 
Buckle 

Report of Strategic 
Lead of Finance 

7 December 
2021 

 

Council Title:  Draft Capital Programme 
Proposals 2022/23 

Purpose:  To consider a report 
that presents for consultation a 
set of draft Capital Programme 
Budget proposals for 2022/23. 

Cllr Jory / Lisa 
Buckle 

Report of Strategic 
Lead of Finance 

7 December 
2021 

 

Page 8



 
 

 
Hub Committee Forward Plan – September 2021 | 5 

Portfolio 
Area 

Report Title and Summary Lead Member 
/ Officer 

Documents to be 
considered in 
making decision 

Date of 
Decision 

Consultees 
and means of 
consultation 

Leisure, 
Health and 
Wellbeing 

Title: Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the results of the 
public consultation exercise on 
a revised Scheme and 
recommends its adoption. 

Cllr Leech / Issy 
Blake 

Head of Housing, 
Revenues and 
Benefits 

7 December 
2021 

 

Natural 
Environment 

Title: Climate Change and 
Biodiversity Strategy and 
Action Plan – Six Month 
Review 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that sets out the six-monthly 
progress review into the 
Council’s adopted Climate 
Change and Biodiversity 
Strategy and Action Plan 

Cllr Daniel / 
Drew Powell 

Report of Director of 
Governance and 
Assurance 

7 December 
2021 

 

Resources & 
Performance 

Title: Revenue Budget 
Monitoring Report to Month 7 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the Revenue 
Budget Monitoring Report to 
Month 7. 

Cllr Edmonds / 
Lisa Buckle 

Report of Section 
151 Officer 

7 December 
2021 

 

Resources & 
Performance 

Title: Capital Programme 
Monitoring Report to Month 7 

Purpose: To consider a report 
that presents the Capital 
Programme Monitoring Report 
to Month 7. 

Cllr Edmonds / 
Pauline 
Henstock 

Report of Head of 
Finance 

7 December 
2021 

 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Hub Committee

Date: 21st September 2021

Title: ORCS Funding – Electric Charging Points

Portfolio Area: Lead Member for Communities Cllr Terry 
Pearce

Lead Member for Natural Environment Cllr 
Lynn Daniel 

Wards Affected: Which Wards/all

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: 

Author: Emma 
Widdicombe

Role: Senior Specialist

Contact: 01803 861367 Emma.Widdicombe@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  

The Hub Committee recommends to Council:

1. To enter a collaboration agreement with the Devon and Torbay 
Residential Chargepoint Scheme for the installation of Electric 
Vehicle Charging Points

2. Approve the potential sites as listed in paragraph 1.3 as the 
location for the installation of Electric Charging Points

3. To enter a lease with the appointed supplier for a 10 year period.

1. Executive summary 

1.1 West Devon Borough Council has joined the Devon and Torbay 
Residential Chargepoint Scheme project which is a partnership 
with other local authorities and being led by Devon County 
Council to install electric vehicle charging points (EVCP) in our 
Council owned car parks set out in paragraph 1.3 below.

1.2 Funding for the project has been received from the Office for 
Zero Emission Vehicles (OZEV) in respect of the Devon and 
Torbay Residential Chargepoint Scheme.

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



1.3 As a result of the Devon and Torbay Residential Chargepoint 
Scheme, electric charging points will be installed in the following 
car park subject to the necessary surveys being carried out:

 Pilgrims Drive car park, Bere Alston

1.4 This reports seeks Members agreement to enter the required
collaboration agreement.  This documents our commitment to 
proceed with the Devon County Council led procurement of an 
approved supplier and thereafter, enter a 10 years of the 
required car parking spaces to the appointed supplier.  Please 
note, this does not restrict our ability to charge parking fees for 
those spaces.

2. Background 

2.1 The Councils Better Lives For All Corporate Strategy sets out our 
commitment to leading by example in reducing our carbon 
footprint.  

2.2 Actions include converting our vehicle fleet to electric, carrying 
out feasibility studies for renewable energy on our land and 
buildings and taking steps to enable our communities to play 
their part in working towards net-zero.  This includes an adoption 
of an electric vehicle charging strategy.

2.3 The Councils adopted Climate Change and Biodiversity Strategy 
and Action also sets out our commitment in exploring new 
opportunities for new EV charge points within Council owned car 
parks and this is in recognition that the Boroughs on road 
greenhouse gas emissions are 30% of the areas total greenhouse 
gas emissions.

2.4 Although, as a Council our ability to directly influence this is 
limited, helping to roll out EV charging infrastructure is 
something we can directly do to help reduce transport emissions 
by making it easier for people to charge their vehicles.  This also 
has the added benefit of non EV owners seeing more charging 
availability locally, helping to influence behaviour change and 
future purchasing decisions.

2.5 The Council has taken significant steps across the district to 
enhance the network of EV charging points available to residents 
and visitors alike.  We have already completed or are in the 
process of installing the following:

 Kilworthy – EV points have been installed at the Offices 
at Kilworthy, Tavistock for use by staff, members and 
tenants.

Page 12



 Deletti Project – a collaborative project led by Devon 
County Council involving the Council and other local 
authorities such as East Devon, North Devon, South 
Somerset and Teignbridge Councils.  The project secured 
Regional Development funding to deliver 22kW EV 
chargers with two outlets to serve two parking bays 
simultaneously for installation across a range of car parks.

o Bedford car park, Tavistock
o Abbey car park, Tavistock
o Mill Road car park, Okehampton
o Chagford car park, Chagford
o Hatherleigh car park, Hatherleigh

2.6 The Devon and Torbay Residential Chargepoint Scheme aims to 
accelerate the uptake of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV) in 
residential streets where off street parking is not available, 
thereby ensuring that on-street parking is not a barrier to 
realising the benefits of owning a plugin EV. 

2.7 Funding has been received by Devon County Council from the 
Office for Zero Emission Vehicles (OZEC) through the On-Street 
Residential Chargepoint Scheme (ORCS).   The grant is payable 
for an average amount not exceeding £13,000 in respect of each 
chargepoint and 75% of the grant is paid upon acceptance of the 
grant offer letter and then a further 25% upon completion of the 
project.

2.8 Devon County Council commissioned Cenex who are consultants 
who focus on low emission transport and associated energy 
infrastructure.  They understand vehicle infrastructure needs and 
provide advice to allow informed, effective and efficient decisions.

2.9 The Cenex analysis identified areas that are more likely to be 
reliant on on-street parking, and also used other indicators to 
identify those areas where EV usage would increase in the near 
future.  The Cenex list of sites was then sifted using the ORCS 
eligibility criteria, location of existing charge points, as well as 
consideration given to grid connection costs.

2.10 OZEV recognises the potential pressure that is faced by local 
authorities when allocating parking spaces for EV’s on residential 
streets.  

2.11 OZEV were therefore willing to consider applications for 
chargepoints situated in car parks owned by the local authority 
which met the objectives of the scheme as follows: 

 The car park is suitably located in or near a residential 
area that lacks off-street parking and provides an option 
for local residents looking to charge their car both during 
the day and overnight.  

Page 13



 EV bays in the car park must have a minimum maximum 
stay time of 4 hours during the day to ensure residents 
have access to a substantial charge.

 Car Parks must be accessible on a 24/7 basis

2.12 Bere Alston Parish Council originally requested to be involved in 
the ORCS funding bid with Devon County Council to install a 
charger at their village hall car park.  This car park is well used 
by users of the village hall and therefore they requested that 
Pilgrims Drive car park which is owned by the West Devon 
Borough Council was considered as a better location for the 
installation of the EV charging point.

2.13 Devon County Council are aware that there are sites that did not 
meet the ORCS eligibility criteria.  They will continue to explore 
ways to deliver EV chargepoints at these sites in the future and 
are continuing to improve their understanding of future on street 
charging needs.

2.14 The procurement process will look to deliver:
 22kW> dual charge points per allocated car park
 High levels of interoperability (no membership fee and 

payments using contactless technology)
 All design, build, operational and maintenance costs covered 

by the contractor for the period of the lease (this includes 
any grid charges or on-going electricity supply)

 Potential for rental income from the contractor (although this 
will be subject to negotiation, and part of the tendering 
undertaken by DCC)

3. Outcomes/outputs 

3.1 On completion of the collaboration agreement, Devon County 
Council will lead the procurement of an appointed supplier to 
whom car parking spaces will be leased as appropriate.

3.2 Tenders will be invited to supply, install and maintain the EV 
charging points based on a lease of the sites for 10 years at a 
nominal rent.

3.3 It is recognised that by supporting the uptake of ultra-low 
emission vehicles this will have a positive benefit on air quality 
and will support the Council climate change agenda. 

3.4 The project is expected to deliver dual charging points per car 
park as identified in paragraph 1.3.

Page 14



4. Options available and consideration of risk 

4.1 It is recognised that being part of the Devon and Torbay 
Residential Chargepoint Scheme has enabled the Council to take 
further steps to install EVCPs with support from partners, and will 
ensure that there is consistency in the provision of EVCPs across 
Devon.

4.2 The project will facilitate the installation of electric charging 
points at no capital costs to the Council due to the grant funding 
obtained by the project group.

4.3 The project installations are due to be competed in 2022/23, 
although final installation dates have yet to be finalised.

5. Proposed Way Forward

5.1 Once the Devon and Torbay Residential Chargepoint Scheme has 
been completed, Officers are committed under the funding 
requirements to keeping usage under review and ensure local 
residents have access to the charging points and to raise 
awareness of chargepoints to local residents.

5.2 Officers will continue to identify and work with partners to 
explore ways to deliver EV chargepoints in the future.  Parish and 
Town Councils also have the opportunity to apply for funding to 
install EV chargepoints on their own land should they wish to do 
so. 

6. Implications 
Implications Relevant 

to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance y The Council’s Off-Street Parking Places Order has 
already been amended to take into consideration 
the use of EVCPs in car parks.

Leases will be granted for chargers installed as part 
of the Devon and Torbay Residential Chargepoint 
Scheme.

Tenders will be invited in accordance to Devon 
County Council Contract Procedure Rules, which is 
compliant with our own procurements 
requirements.

Financial 
implications to 

y A small rental income stream is anticipated but yet 
to be negotiated from the electric charge point 

Page 15



include reference 
to value for 
money

providers in respect of the Devon and Torbay 
Residential Charging Scheme.

Risk The option to do nothing will not deliver the electric 
charging points which goes against the council’s 
climate change agenda.

As technology advances there may not be sufficient 
charging points provided.

Reputational risk should the charging points not be 
delivered within the project timescale.

By not entering the collaboration agreement and 
the joint procurement exercise the Council may not 
achieve best value

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy 

Council 
Environment
Wellbeing

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact 

Clear positive impacts in respect of the reduction of 
air pollution, carbon reduction and climate change

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality and 
Diversity

none  

Safeguarding none

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

none

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

None

Other 
implications

none

Supporting Information
Appendices:
None

Background Papers:
None
Approval and clearance of report

Process checklist Completed
Portfolio Holder briefed/sign off Yes

Page 16



SLT Rep briefed/sign off Yes
Relevant  Heads of Practice sign off (draft) Yes
Data protection issues considered Yes
Accessibility checked Yes

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Hub Committee

Date: 21 September 2021

Title: Expenditure of Section 106 Contributions 

Portfolio Area: Cllr Chris Edmonds

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y

Date next steps can be taken Following Call-In

Lisa Buckle  Director of Strategic 
Finance (s151 Officer)

Cassandra Harrison Specialist - Housing

Author:

Alexis Huggins

Role:

Specialist – Open Space, 
Sport and Recreation 

Contact: Email lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk

RECOMMENDATIONS:  

That the Hub Committee:

1. Notes the amount of Section 106 contributions held at 31 
March 2021 as set out in Appendix A (totalling £1.091 
million) and the future expenditure proposals;

2. Notes the process for consulting and informing Town and 
Parish Councils regarding Section 106 contributions; and 

3. Actively encourages all Members to continue to engage 
with their Town and Parish Councils to facilitate the 
expenditure of section 106 contributions to enable the 
delivery of affordable housing, open space sport and 
recreation, and community facilities in their areas.

1. Executive summary
1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide details of Section 106 contributions 

received by the Council and how it is proposed to spend these contributions 
to enable the delivery of affordable housing, open space, sport and 
recreation, and community facilities. 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 9

mailto:lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk


1.2. Appendix A sets out the Section 106 contributions that the Council is in 
receipt of (at the 31 March 2021), which totals £1.091 million of Section 106 
contributions which have conditions attached.

1.3. Appendix A also sets out the Parish in which the development generating the 
contribution is located, as well as the purpose of the Section 106 
contribution, which is set out within the following categories:-

 Homes and Built and Natural Environment Delivery Plan of the 
Corporate Strategy (Sub categories are Affordable Housing and 
Heritage) 

 Strengthening Community Wellbeing Delivery Plan of the Corporate 
Strategy (Sub categories are Community Facilities and Open Space 
Sport and Recreation) 

1.4 As set out in Appendix A, of the £1.091 million of S106 Deposits, 
£0.616m will fall within the Homes and Built and Natural Environment 
Delivery Plan and £0.475m will fall within the Strengthening Community 
Wellbeing Delivery Plan within the Council’s strategic vision, ‘A Plan for 
West Devon’.

1.5      For each row, a traffic light coding system has been applied to indicate 
the progress with expenditure, with the following definitions:

 Green = either spent between 31 March 2021 and present, or with 
clear plans for spending e.g. a grant offer made to a Parish 
Council/relevant organisation

 Orange = where part but not all of the contribution is committed 
for spend OR where discussions about potential projects have 
started to take place but details are not finalised, and no grant 
offer has been made to the Parish Council/relevant organisation. 

 Red = where projects are yet to be developed. 

1.6 Columns have also been provided to indicate what is predicted to be 
spent in 2021/2022, what is predicted to be spent in 2022/2023, and 
which contributions have no firm timescales for expenditure. A 
comments column has also been added to give further information on 
the project. 

1.7 Based on the £1.091 million Section 106 contributions that the Council is 
in receipt of, the following expenditure is expected: 

AMOUNT £
Amount of s106 deposit predicted to be spent in 
2021/2022

£136,000

Amount of s106 deposit predicted to be spent in 
2022/2023

£832,000

Amount with no firm timescale for the s106 deposit to be 
spent

£123,000

TOTAL £1,091,000

Page 20



2 Background
2.1 The aim of Section 106 contributions is to mitigate the impact of 

development, and support and enable local communities to provide 
and improve provision of affordable housing and open space, sport, 
recreation and community facilities, in order to enhance the quality of 
life across the West Devon Borough.  

2.2 All Section 106 contributions must meet the following three tests set 
out in the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010: 

 Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
 Directly related to the development; and
 Fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.

2.3 The Council is the accountable body for the spending of the Section 
106 contributions in Appendix A. The majority of these contributions 
relate to either open space, sport and recreation facilities or affordable 
housing. As the accountable body, the Council must allocate all 
contributions in accordance with the Section 106 legal agreement that 
has been entered into with the landowner or developer. 

 
2.4 Legal agreements can include the County Council as a signatory to the 

agreement where developer contributions are required for education, 
highways and transportation, civic amenity and library facilities, as key 
examples. Legal agreements will normally specify a time period within 
which any submitted contributions must be spent. 

2.5 Details of historical expenditure of s106 contributions is set out in 
Appendix B. 

3 Section 106 Contributions for Affordable Housing 

3.1 The level of funding contribution is negotiated with developers during 
the planning application process. This is currently based on the Joint 
Local Plan (JLP) Supplementary Planning Document.  For historical 
Section 106 agreements it was based on the West Devon Affordable 
Housing Code of Practice 2012.

3.2 A process flowchart for the spending of Section 106 contributions for 
affordable housing is in place (see Appendix C). Through this process 
Ward Members and the relevant Town or Parish Council are informed 
when section 106 contributions for affordable housing are received by 
the Council, and are invited to identify any projects on which the 
contributions could be spent. An application form for Section 106 
contributions for affordable housing is also available (see Appendix D). 

Page 21



3.3 The figures for affordable housing in Appendix A total £0.603 million of 
Section 106 contributions which have conditions attached. It is 
predicted that all of this £0.603 million will be spent in 2022/2023 on 
the redevelopment in Tavistock for high quality homelessness 
accommodation. Outline Plans are shown below.

Page 22



4 Section 106 Contributions for Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
(OSSR) and Community projects

4.1 The level of funding contribution is negotiated with developers during 
the planning application process. This is currently based on the JLP 
Developer Contributions Evidence Base. For historical Section 106 
agreements it was based on the Atkins West Devon OSSR Study 2007. 

4.2 Where specific projects are named within Section 106 agreements, 
these are normally identified from a review of the 2017 Play and 
Greenspace Audits, the current Playing Pitch Strategy, and any 
Town/Parish OSSR Plan (which may be part of a Neighbourhood Plan). 
Where an obvious project cannot be identified, the relevant Town or 
Parish Council is normally contacted for further information. 

4.3 Whilst acknowledging that the three tests detailed in paragraph 2.2 
must be met, where possible some flexibility on projects is written into 
the Section 106 agreement to help avoid the need for future deeds of 
variation to agreements. 

4.4 In the future, Ward Members and the relevant Town or Parish Council 
will be informed when section 106 contributions for open space, sport 
and recreation are received by the Council and invited to identify any 
projects on which contributions could be spent, mirroring the process 
for affordable housing set out in paragraph 3.2. 

4.5 A report taken to the Hub Committee on 20 November 2018 sought 
the approval for the release of section 106 contributions for a range of 
OSSR projects (minute *HC49 refers). That report set out the 
delegations in relation to the spending of OSSR contributions, with 
consultation with the ward member(s) and portfolio holder to be 
undertaken to agree the specific details of identified projects, or to 
agree the priorities for spend through OSSR Plans. 

4.6 Where possible, opportunities to maximise benefits and to lever in 
additional funding are sought. Where projects take place on third party 
land, the funds are offered by way of a conditional grant which secures 
the Council’s interests and the specific requirements of the Section 106 
agreement. 

4.7 The figures for OSSR in Appendix A total £0.424 million of Section 106 
contributions which have conditions attached. It is predicted that 0.102 
million will be spent in 2021/2022 and 0.210 million in 2022/2023. 
There is a further £0.111 million with no firm timescale for 
expenditure. 

Page 23



4.8 Some of the projects either already delivered between 31 March 2021 
and present, or expected to be delivered before 2023 include:

 Land purchase for Tavistock Rugby Club;
 Improvements to Tavistock Cricket Club pavilion; 
 Improvements to Tavistock Hockey Club pavilion; and
 Enhancement of Bannawell Street play area, Tavistock.

5 Other Section 106 Contributions

5.1 Other Section 106 contributions may be sought as set out in JLP policy 
DEV30 and the JLP Developer Contributions Evidence Base. 

5.2 As set out in Appendix A, the Council is in receipt of the following 
contributions: 

 Community Facilities - £43,414.51 with £26,190 predicted to be spent 
in 2022/2022 and the remaining £17,224.51 in 2022/2023.

 Heritage - £13,236.40 with £2,000 predicted to be spent in 
2022/2023 and the remaining £11,236.40 with no firm timescale for 
spend. 

 Street cleansing - £7,588.11 predicted to be spent in 2021/2022.

6 Accounting arrangements for Section 106 Contributions

6.1 Section 106 contributions are shown under the Creditors section of the 
Council’s Balance Sheet as it is money that has been paid to the 
Council with conditions attached as to how that money is spent, in 
accordance with the Section 106 agreement. 

6.2 A schedule of Section 106 contributions which are held by the Council 
is reported to members on a quarterly basis as part of the report to 
Hub on the monitoring of Capital Programme.

7 Monitoring arrangements for Section 106 Contributions

7.1 Compliance with Section 106 agreements (both financial and non-
financial elements) is actively monitored by the Council’s Section 106 
Monitoring Officer.

8 Proposed Way Forward 

8.1 Officers will continue to progress the spending of section 106 
contributions in accordance with the legal agreements and reports to 
members.

8.2 Members are requested to note the current and future processes for 
consulting and informing Town and Parish Councils as set out in 
paragraphs 3.2, 4.2 and 4.4 of the report. 

Page 24



8.3 Members are actively encouraged to continue to engage with their 
town and parish councils to facilitate the expenditure of section 106 
contributions to enable the delivery of affordable housing, open space 
sport and recreation, and community facilities in their areas.

9 Implications

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y See Section 2 of the Report. 

Financial Y See Paragraph 1.6 and Appendix A of the Report.

The Council’s Financial Procedure Rules require that 
where expenditure over £30,000 is proposed, that 
this needs to be agreed by Hub.  

Risk Y There is a risk of contributions not being spent in 
accordance with the section 106 agreement. To 
address this, where any section 106 contributions 
are passed to community groups to develop and 
deliver projects, offers of grants will be made with 
appropriate terms and conditions securing the 
interest of the Council and ensuring that the 
requirements of the section 106 agreements are 
adhered to.  If ambiguity exists over the 
appropriateness of a project, agreement of the 
developer will be sought. 
 
Some section 106 agreements have ‘clawback’ 
clauses allowing the developers to be re-paid the 
money if it is not spent within a certain timeframe. 
Thus there is a risk of communities losing out if 
money is not spent/committed within the specific 
timeframes. Careful monitoring will prevent this 
from happening. 

There is a risk of contributions not being spent in 
accordance with community aspirations and that 
community benefits may not be secured for the 
long term. Any recipients of grant offers will need 
to hold necessary powers and have a suitable 
organisational structure in place. Where necessary 
Community Use Agreements will be implemented 
to secure long term community use. 
 

Page 25



Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy

Y
As set out in Appendix A, of the £1.091 million of 
S106 Deposits, £0.616m will fall within the Homes 
and Built and Natural Environment Delivery Plan 
and £0.475m will fall within the Strengthening 
Community Wellbeing Delivery Plan within the 
Council’s strategic vision, ‘A Plan for West Devon’. 

This will also ensure leisure provision meets the 
needs of residents through maximising funding for 
playing pitches and outdoor sports facilities. 

Climate Change – 
Carbon/Biodiversi
ty Impact

Section 106 projects need to take into account 
climate change and biodiversity impact, minimising 
impacts as far as possible.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications

Equality and 
Diversity

Y N/A

Safeguarding N N/A  

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

N N/A

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

Y Enhancements to Open Space, Sport and 
Recreation facilities are closely linked with 
improved health and wellbeing.

Other 
implications

N
N/A

Supporting Information

Appendices:
Appendix A – Summary of S106 Contributions as at 31st March 2021, with 
predicted timescales for expenditure

Appendix B – Section 106 expenditure in previous financial years

Appendix C – Flowchart showing the process for spending S106 contributions for 
affordable housing

Appendix D – Application form for S106 funding for affordable housing

Background Papers
None

Page 26



SECTION 106 DEPOSITS as at 31.03.21
BALANCE SHEET CLASSIFICATION: LONG TERM LIABILITIES - REVENUE

TOTAL S106
Classif. SITE Date Current Restriction/Committed Condition DEPOSITS Predicted to 

spend 2021-2022
Predicted to 
spend 2022 - 

2023

No firm timescale 
for spend

Comments

Code REVENUE Parish Received Stage End Date as at  31.03.21

HOMES AND BUILT AND NATURAL ENVIRONMENT DELIVERY PLAN £

AFFORDABLE HOUSING
2517 9 Drakes Park Bere Alston (01994/2011) Bere Alston 12/01/13 PIF  10 Years Affordable Housing 11,500.00 11,500.00 To be spent on redevelopment in Tavistock for high quality homelessness 

accommodation. Planning application to be submitted in 2021. 

2523 6&8 Fore Street, Bridestowe(03113/2012) Bridestowe 02/07/2013      
15/09/2015

PIF 10 Years Affordable Housing 5,500.00 5,500.00 as above

2520 Land adjacent to Trescote, Bridestowe - 00465/2014 Bridestowe 22/10/14 PIF 10 Years Affordable Housing 7,375.00 7,375.00 as above
Land Adjoining Belle vue - 03222/2012 Bridestowe PIF 10 Years Affordable Housing 7,375.00 7,375.00 as above

2539 The Beeches, Yelverton - 0302/15 Buckland Monachorum 22/06/17 PIF 10 years Affordable Housing 20,911.90 20,911.90 as above
2533 Hannaford, The Crescent, Crapstone -01866/2011 Crapstone 17/06/2013 

19/09/2013
PIF None Affordable Housing 100% 16,300.00 16,300.00 as above

2546 Barns At Hurlditch Horn Gulworthy 00358/2010 Gulworthy 10k 19th & 20th 
June 2019 and 
5K on 21/06/19

Under Development10 years Affordable Housing 31,949.81 31,949.81 as above

2535 The Old Post Office Highampton (00740/2014) Highampton 22/08/18 PIF 10 years Affordable Housing 6,121.51 6,121.51 as above
2514 Melcroft, Lifton - 00546/2013 Lifton 09/02/17 PIF 10 Years Affordable Housing 7,375.00 7,375.00 as above
2522 Land adj Shellsley North Tawton (02914/2012) North Tawton 20/02/15 PIF 10 Years 1st & 2nd 50% Affordable 

Housing 
47,136.72 47,136.72 as above

2521 Tricity Works, Holsworthy Road, Okehampton - 02485/2012 Okehampton 15/06/14 PIF 10 Years Affordable Housing 5,500.00 5,500.00 as above
2512 Livaton Berns, S Tawton - 00707/2014 South Tawton 19/08/2015 & 

23.08.18 & 
05/09/18

PIF 10 Years Affordable Housing 1st & 2nd 
50%

12,878.30 12,878.30 as above

2557 The Highwayman Inn, Sourton (3112/16/Ful) Sourton 26/03/21 - but 
minus £90

Under Development10 Years 1st Instalment of affordable 
housing

21,415.81 21,415.81 as above

2524 The Barton, Spreyton (01396/2014) Spreyton 04/03/2015   
24/07/2012

PIF 10 years Affordable Housing 71,530.17 71,530.17 as above

2508 Land adj Serendipity, Tavistock - 00556/2014 Tavistock 15/08/17 PIF 10 Years Affordable Housing 8,261.15 8,261.15 as above
2510 Land at 68 Plymouth Road, Tavistock - 03076/2012 Tavistock 21/11/17 PIF 5 years Affordable Housing 12,196.61 12,196.61 as above
2509 The Garage, Maudlins Park, Tavistock - 02492/2012 Tavistock 11/12/17 - on 

arrangement plan 
Under Development 10 Years Affordable Housing 5,713.00 5,713.00 as above

2516 Land Adjacent to rising Hill,Tavistock - 01608/2011 Tavistock 19/09/13 PIF None Affordable Housing 8,400.00 8,400.00 as above
2518 Land Adjoining Brook Farm Tavistock (00692/2013) Tavistock PIF 10 years Affordable Housing 7,375.00 7,375.00 as above
2519 Land at Annan Down Park Drive, Tavistock - 01007/2013 Tavistock 30/02/2014       

10/07/2014
PIF 10 years Affordable Housing 29,125.00 29,125.00 as above

2503 Tanglewood, Tavistock - 01191/2013 Tavistock 12/11/2004 
24/04/2017

PIF 10 Years Affordable Housing 16,831.59 16,831.59 as above

2543 Land Lower Trendle - 2092/16/Ful Tavistock 17/07/2020 & ?? Under Development10 years 100% Affordable Housing Contributions 44,221.13 44,221.13 as above
2513 RO 6 Westmoor Park - 00014/2014 Tavistock 20/06/19 PIF 10 years Affordable Housing 7,800.68 7,800.68 as above
2528 Harewood House Tavistock -2232/17/FUL Tavistock 09/02/21 Under Development10 Years Affordable Housing 164,285.01 164,285.01 as above
2547 Land Rear of Rowan Cottage - 0825/16/Ful Thrushelton 22/11/19 Under Development10 Years Affordable Housing 25,694.44 25,694.44 as above

HERITAGE
2543 Land Lower Trendle - 2092/16/Ful Tavistock 03/05/19 Under Development10 years Heritage Contribution 2,000.00 0.00 2,000.00 0.00 Towards cost of survey work at the Tendle SAM. To be commissioned by school in 

collaboration with Historic England. Historic England met with Mount Kelly in March 2021 - 
project to be developed  

2531 Unit 2-4 Tavistock Retail Park - 00601/2013 Tavistock 14/12/15 PIF None BCIS on Town Centre 
Improvements and Townscape 
Heritage Contributions

11,236.40 0.00 0.00 11,236.40 No firm project but Officers considering use of funds.

SUB TOTAL 616,009.23 0.00 604,772.83 11,236.40

STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY WELLBEING DELIVERY PLAN
COMMUNITY FACILITIES
2510 Land at 68 Plymouth Road, Tavistock - 03076/2012 Tavistock 21/11/17 PIF 5 years Community Infrastructure 

Contribution
8,237.71 8,237.71 0.00 0.00 All allocated via grant offer letters

2527 11366/2008/TAV - Former Tavistock Hockey Club Tavistock 28/10/13 PIF 10 Years Community Facilities 23,296.80 12,012.29 11,284.51 0.00 All allocated via grant offer letters
2531 11462/2008/OKE (see 13_14 schedule 11/11/2008) Okehampton 27/05/16 PIF 7 Years Community Faciltiies 11,880.00 5,940.00 5,940.00 0.00 Invited applications, deadline September 2021

SUB TOTAL 43,414.51 26,190.00 17,224.51 0.00

OPEN SPACE, SPORT AND RECREATION
2504 Batheway Fields, N Tawton - 01037/2013 North Tawton 15/05/17 & 

22/08/17
PIF 10 Years Maintenance of sports facilities 

in North Tawton
1,822.14 0.00 0.00 1,822.14 Remaining funds, no planned projects

2558 Land North of Crediton Road, Okehampton - 01089/2013 Okehampton 08/06/21 Under Development10 Years Play Field Contribution 57,841.33 0.00 0.00 57,841.33 To be informed by Playing Pitch Strategy update
2527 11366/2008/TAV - Former Tavistock Hockey Club Tavistock 28/10/13 PIF 10 Years Off-site Sports Pitch - provision 

and maintenance of recreational 
facilities for public use at the 
Crowndale Development

43,282.60 2,287.50 40,995.10 0.00 Small spend in 21-22; remainder TBC but talking to clubs.

2537 Land Butcher Park Hill - 00610/2015 Tavistock 20/09/18 Under Development5 Years Play Contribution - 
enhancement and maintenance 
of Bannawell Street Play Area

49,201.45 0.00 49,201.45 0.00 Rob Sekula approached Tavistock Town Council to offer assistance but no progress to 
date.

2537 Land Butcher Park Hill - 00610/2015 Tavistock 20/09/18 Under Development5 Years Sports provision - Crowndale 
football/Tavistock rugby Sandy 
Lane/Tavistock cricket at The 
Ring

160,243.72 40,000.00 120,243.72 0.00 Clubs named in agreements aware of funds. Expecting application from Tavistock Cricket 
Club. Committed £40k to Tavistock Rugby Club. 

2548 Land New Launceston Road - 2022/16/OPA Tavistock 04/12/19 Under Development10 Years 50% Playing Pitch contribution - 
additional football pitch at 
Crowndale/improvement of club 
facilities Crowndale and 
Langsford Park/improvements 
to rugby facilities, Sandy 
Lane/improvements to Tavistock 
cricket pavilion/improvements 
Tavistock hockey facilities

111,588.57 60,000.00 0.00 51,588.57 Clubs named in agreements aware of funds. Expecting an application from Tavistock 
Hockey Club, probably £60k.

SUB TOTAL 423,979.81 102,287.50 210,440.27 111,252.04

STREET CLEANSING
2504 Batheway Fields, N Tawton - 01037/2013 North Tawton 15/05/17 & 

22/08/17
PIF 10 Years Street Cleansing Contribution 7,588.11 7,588.11 0.00 0.00 To be transferred to street cleansing account 

SUB TOTAL 7,588.11 7,588.11 0.00 0.00
SUB TOTAL 474,982.43 136,065.61 227,664.78 111,252.04

TOTAL S106 DEPOSITS (WITH CONDITIONS) 1,090,991.66 136,065.61 832,437.61 122,488.44

DELIVERY PLAN TOTALS
HOMES AND BUILT AND NATURAL ENVIRONMENT DELIVERY PLAN 616,009.230
STRENGTHENING COMMUNITY WELLBEING DELIVERY PLAN 474,982.43

1,090,991.66

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B: Section 106 expenditure in previous financial years

As reported in the Infrastructure Funding Statement1, the total monies spent by 
the Council in 2019/2020 totalled £33,301, with the following projects delivered:

 Public art installation in North Tawton - £21,000
 Improvements to Memorial Park North Tawton - £3,439
 Improvements to drainage of pitches at North Tawton Rugby Football Club 

- £8,862

The Spend in 2020/2021 will be reported in the 2020/2021 Infrastructure 
Funding Statement due to be submitted in December 2021. 

1 https://www.westdevon.gov.uk/developer-contributions

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C - FLOWCHART SHOWING THE PROCESS FOR SPENDING S106 CONTRIBUTIONS FOR AFFORDABLE HOUSING      

• offsite contributions are 
agreed in the s106 
agreement during the 
planning application 
process

• section 106 agreement is 
signed and returned to 
the council.

• Once signed, details of 
how much money has 
been secured, for which 
site and the triggers will 
be recorded.

Stage 1

• Email ward members and 
parish council when 
money has been received 
and when this needs to be 
spent or committed by 
and what pupose this 
money is to be used for

• invite ward members and 
parish council to advise 
affordable housing of any 
project that this money 
could be used for.

• Neighbourhood planning 
groups, if one is in place, 
to be informed through 
the parish council that 
money has been received 
and date when it needs to 
be spent/committed by.

stage 2
• All applications for the 

funds should complete 
the application form 
attached explaining how, 
where and how much 
money will be required.  
This helps officers to see 
what additional funding, 
if any will be required.

• Advise members through 
0verview & Scrutiny of 
any expenditure or 
committed funds.

• If particular commuted 
sum money is not spent 
or committed 3 years 
prior to expiry, advise all 
ward members of 
available funds to ensure 
that this is spent and not 
returned to the 
developer/applicant.

stage 3

 If funds are unspent or uncommitted, dependant on the wording of the s106 agreement, within a specified period of time, the available commuted 
sum will be opened up to all areas of the district on a first come first served basis to ensure that the funds are spent and not returned.

 All applications will be assessed to verify the likelihood of the funds being spent.
 If more than one application for a particular s106, the application will be assessed by affordable housing in conjunction with the ward members and 

the Leader, Deputy Leader and the Hub Committee Member for Housing.
 Members will be informed of all s106 contributions which affordable housing have collected/agreed on a 6 monthly basis.

P
age 31



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D - APPLICATION FORM FOR S106 FUNDING FOR AFFORDABLE HOUSING 

By contacting us, the community wishes to utilise Section 106, offsite funding for affordable housing.  
This funding can only be used in the context of housing due to the legal limitations.  If you wish to 
access money for Open Space Sports & Recreation, please contact Rob Sekula on 
rob.sekula@swdevon.gov.uk

Name of community

Contact details

Please detail who you are e.g., ward member, parish council, Neighbourhood Planning Group, other

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

Do you have a specific project, scheme or site identified, if yes please provide as much detail about 
the scheme as 
possible?...................................................................................................................................................
..................................................................................................................................................................
..................................................................................................................................................................
.................................................................................................................................................................

If you do not have a project, scheme or site identified, do you wish to understand all options 
available? YES/NO (if yes a member of the team will be in contact with you, please ensure that we 
have your name and telephone number/email address)

In order for us to provide the correct advice, please could you advise us of the outcome/s this money 
could deliver?  Please provide as much detail as possible e.g. type, tenure and size of 
accommodation, bringing empty homes in to use, site 
puirchase……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

Do you currently have a site in mind to deliver your project, if so please provide a location plan, 
landowner details and whether the community have an agreement in principle to deliver housing on 
this 
site?..........................................................................................................................................................
..................................................................................................................................................................
..........................................................................................................................................................

Has planning been applied for or granted on the potential site?  YES/NO

If you have not yet discussed site selection, we can assist you with this process, please indicate if 
you would like guidance regarding this.

Page 33

mailto:rob.sekula@swdevon.gov.uk


Do you have access to any funding? If yes please advise us of the source and amount of funding so 
far? Alternatively please advise us of any applications/contact you have 
made.........................................................................................................................................................
..................................................................................................................................................................

If you have not yet been awarded any funding, we can advise you of funding sources dependant 
on your project.

If you have a business plan or funding has been awarded please provide as much detail as possible, 
please attach this to your form or email this to affordable.housing@swdevon.gov.uk 

Please indicate an estimate of how much funding is 
required………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

Do you know if a housing need has been identified? YES/NO

Have you entered into any pre-application discussions with the local authority? YES/NO

When do you aim to complete your project, an indicative timescale would be useful if possible?

For any queries please contact affordable.housing@swdevon.gov.uk

For office use only

Date received………………………..............................................................

Allocated officer…………………………………………………………………………………

Date consulted with ward member……………………………………………………

Committee or delegated decision……………………………………………………….

Date of decision………………………………………………………………………………..

Page 34



Report to: Hub Committee

Date: 21 September 2021

Title: Month 4 Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2021/2022

Portfolio Area: Performance & Resources – Cllr C Edmonds

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y

Date next steps can be taken: N/A

Author: Pauline Henstock 

Lisa Buckle

Role: Head of Finance Practice 
and Deputy S.151 Officer 

Corporate Director for 
Strategic Finance 

(S151 Officer)

Contact: pauline.henstock@swdevon.gov.uk

lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:

That the Hub Committee RESOLVES to:-

i) NOTE the forecast income and expenditure variations for 
the 2021/22 financial year and the overall projected 
deficit of £37,000 (0.5% of the total Budget £7.302 
million), which is very close to a break-even position.

ii) RECOMMEND to Council to utilise funding of £190,000 
from the COVID-19 Losses Earmarked Reserve in 
2021/22, to fund COVID-19 expenditure in 2021/22 and 
the projected net losses on car parking income in 
2021/22.

1. Executive summary
1.1 This report enables Members to monitor income and expenditure 

variations against the approved budget for 2021/22, and provides a 
forecast for the year end position. The gross service expenditure 
budget for 2021/22 was set at £23 million (£7.302 million net).  This 
report identifies a projected deficit of £37,000 which is 0.5% of the 

Page 35

Agenda Item 11

mailto:pauline.henstock@swdevon.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk


overall Budget set for 2021/22 of £7.302 million. This is very close 
to a break-even position.

1.2 It is recommended to Council to utilise funding of £190,000 from the 
COVID-19 Losses Earmarked Reserve, to fund COVID-19 expenditure 
in 2021/22 (£114,000) and the projected losses on car parking 
income in 2021/22 (£122,000 less compensation from the 
Government scheme of £46,000, a net loss of £76,000). This 
Earmarked Reserve has a current uncommitted balance of £502,000 
and the reserve was set up for this purpose. If the £190,000 was 
funded from this reserve, this would leave a balance of £312,000 in 
the Covid Losses Earmarked Reserve at 31.3.2022. Further detail is 
shown in Appendix A on this reserve.

2. Background 

2.1 Regional and national context

2.2 The Covid-19 pandemic has drawn into sharper focus the financial 
challenges faced by Local Authorities which have existed for some 
years. There remains outstanding a number of Local Authority 
Government reviews into Local Authority funding to reset the way 
local Councils are funded and the mechanism for the distribution of 
funding.  

2.3 Financial Monitoring arrangements

2.4 The Council’s financial procedure rules require that reports must be 
made on budget monitoring on a regular basis to the Hub Committee 
as part of the Council’s arrangements for budget management. 

3. Outcomes/outputs 

3.1 Budget overview - Table 1 below provides an analysis of the 
projected variances against budget.

TABLE 1: 2021/22 BUDGET FORECAST

                                                                       2021/22
Budget 

expenditure
/(income)

Budget variations Note

£000 % £000 £000
APPROVED BUDGET 7,302
Reductions in 
expenditure/additional income
Customer Service & Delivery
Planning income (402) 13% (52) A
Land Charges income (95) 10% (10) B
Savings on staff and Member 
travel and expenses

91 55% (50) C

Page 36



Homelessness prevention costs 93 54% (50) D
Governance and Assurance
Garden Waste income (245) 9% (21) E
Other Comprehensive Income 
& Expenditure 
Business Rates Pooling gain (135) 22% (30) F
Sub total of variations (213)

Increases in 
expenditure/reductions in 
income
Customer Service & Delivery
COVID-19 expenditure n/a n/a (no 

budget)
114 G

Planning salaries 348 17% 60 H
Licensing income (114) 13% 15 I
Council Tax Collection income (102) 20% 20 J
Place and Enterprise
Car Parking Income
(net loss is £76,000 as 
Government compensation of 
£46,000 is projected as Note O)

(1,147) 11% 122 K

Governance & Assurance
Waste & Recycling  – 3 Weekly 
Waste Trials

n/a n/a 50 L

Other Comprehensive Income 
& Expenditure 
Investment income (105) 77% 80 M
Provision for Bad and Doubtful 
Debts

n/a n/a 25 N

Sub total of variations 486
PROJECTED OUTTURN 7,575
Government grant funding 
anticipated from the income 
guarantee scheme for sales, fees 
and charges for April to June 2021
(mainly to compensate for loss of 
car parking income in the first 
quarter)

(46) O

Recommendation 2: Transfer 
funding from the COVID-19 Losses 
Earmarked Reserve (to fund 
COVID-19 expenditure of 
£114,000 and net losses on car 
parking income of £76,000 – see 
1.2)

(190) G&K 
(as 
per 
1.2) 

Sub-total 7,339
PROJECTED DEFICIT FOR 
2021/22

37

Page 37



There is projected to be an overall deficit of £37,000 when 
compared against the Revenue Budget set for 2021/22. This is very 
close to a break-even position.
Notes

A. Planning income – additional income of £52,000 has been received 
as at 31 July 2021. For the purposes of the 2021/22 projection it has 
been assumed that income will be on budget for the remainder of 
the year. However, this is a volatile area which can be very difficult 
to forecast given the impact of large applications so there is every 
likelihood that the income will fluctuate as the year progresses. The 
Planning Improvement Plan report on this Committee agenda 
recommends that this additional income is utilised to fund additional 
temporary staffing costs in planning for 2021/22 (see Note H).

B. Land Charges income – income is currently anticipated to exceed 
the 2021/22 target by £10,000 which equates to 10% of the annual 
income budget of £95,000.

C. Savings on staff and Member travel and expenses – due to 
Covid 19, it is currently anticipated that a saving of up to £50,000 
could be achieved in 2021/22. These savings are due to staff and 
Members working from home.

D. Homelessness Prevention – homelessness prevention costs are 
currently anticipated to be underspent by £50,000 in 2021/22.

E. Garden Waste Income – income is currently anticipated to exceed 
the 2021/22 target by £21,000 which equates to 9% of the annual 
income budget of £245,000.

F. Business Rates Pooling gain – the latest Business Rates Pooling 
Gain forecast indicates that a Pooling Gain of around £165,000 will 
be achieved in 2021/22. This is £30,000 higher than the budgeted 
amount of £135,000.

G. COVID-19 expenditure – One-off items of direct Covid 19 
expenditure such as extra housing costs, ICT and remote working, 
waste, cleaning costs and community support costs. These costs are 
included on the monthly DELTA Government returns completed.

H. Planning salaries – additional temporary staffing cost within the 
Development Management Service is anticipated to cost £60,000 in 
2021/22. This can be mostly met from the additional planning 
income generated by the service as shown in note ‘A’ above. 
Approval is sought for this in the Planning Improvement Plan report, 
a separate item on this Hub Committee agenda.

I. Licensing income – as at the end of July 2021 there was a shortfall 
of £15,000 in licensing income. This will be partly offset by the 
extension of the Government income guarantee scheme for sales, 

Page 38



fees and charges into the first quarter of 2021/22 as shown in note 
‘L’ below.

J. Council Tax Collection income – summons costs recovered in 
respect of Council Tax and Business Rates are currently anticipated 
to be 20% down on the 2021/22 budget.

K. Car Parking income - as at the end of July 2021 there was a 
shortfall of £122,000 in car parking income. For the purposes of the 
2021/22 projection, it has been assumed that income will be on 
budget for the remainder of the year. This will be partly offset by the 
extension of the Government income guarantee scheme for sales, 
fees and charges into the first quarter of 2021/22 and projected 
compensation of £46,000, as shown in note ‘O’ below.

L. Waste and Recycling – The Revenue Budget for 2021/22 included 
potential additional income of £50,000 in 21/22 and a further 
£75,000 in 22/23 for income from the possibility to move to a three 
weekly waste collection. It was stated that this was dependent on 
the outcome of the results from the three weekly trials. There is a 
separate report on the Hub Committee agenda on 21 September 
which recommends that the trial of the three weekly residual (black 
sack) collections is not extended to the whole of the Borough in 
Spring 2022 and recognises the potential impact of making a major 
service change at a time when significant structural changes are 
expected in the waste industry and other external pressures, 
including the national LGV driver shortage.

M. Investment income – due to the historic low interest rates (base 
rates are 0.1%), investment income is currently anticipated to be 
77% down which equates to a shortfall of £80,000 in 2021/22. 
Further options for fixed term deposits will continue to be explored 
with the Council’s treasury management advisers.

N. Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts – An increase in the 
provision for bad and doubtful debts of £25,000 has been estimated 
for 2021/22. This provision covers debts such as Sundry Debtors and 
Housing Benefit debt but will exclude bad debt provisions for Council 
Tax and Business Rates income streams.

O. Government Grant Funding for Income Losses – in line with 
2020/21 the Government have extended their income guarantee 
scheme to help compensate Councils for losses of sales, fees and 
charges income during the first quarter of 2021/22. The Government 
will continue to compensate Councils for their income losses above 
the first 5% of their budgeted income from sales, fees and charges. 
Income losses above the first 5% will be compensated by the 
Government paying for 75 pence in every pound of the losses 
thereafter. Due to the recovery of some key income streams in 
2021/22 this has been estimated at £46,000 for April to June 2021, 
which is mainly for the loss of car parking income.

Page 39



3. Savings/Additional Income identified in the 2021/22 Budget 

3.1 This monitoring report includes an update on the position regarding 
the savings and additional income that were identified in the 2021/22 
budget setting process, set out in Appendix B.

3.2 Leisure - A report on Leisure is on the Hub Committee Forward Plan 
for October and any financial implications arising from Member 
decisions within the report will be built into the next Budget 
Monitoring report.

4.      Review of Earmarked Reserves

4.1    The Council annually undertakes a review of the level of its Earmarked 
Reserves as part of the budget setting process. Budgeted   
contributions to and from Earmarked Reserves were part of the 
2021/22 Budget reports.

4.2 A schedule of Earmarked Reserves is attached at Appendix A, which 
shows Earmarked Reserves have a projected balance of £5.406 
million at 31 March 2022 currently. 

4.3 Although our Earmarked Reserves appear to have increased 
substantially overall in 2020/21, an amount of £2.61m of this is due 
to a technical accounting adjustment where Councils were 
compensated for the business rates holidays that were announced by 
the Government for the retail, hospitality and leisure sectors in 
2020/21 (this funding is in the S31 Compensation Grant Reserve). 
This temporary increase in reserves will reverse back out again in the 
2021/22 Accounts, to fund the deficit on the Collection Fund. 
Therefore this is not money which is available for the Council to spend 
and it is important that this is not misinterpreted in the Accounts, as 
this is a national issue.

4.4 The Council’s level of Unearmarked Reserves currently stands at 
£1.294 million. The deficit of £37,000 would go into Unearmarked 
Reserves at the year end, in accordance with normal accounting 
practice. This gives a predicted year end balance at 31.3.2022 of 
£1.257 million for Unearmarked Reserves. 

5.      Prudential Indicators

5.1 The prudential code indicators were approved in the Capital, 
Investment and Treasury Management Strategy report to the Council 
on 30 March 2021. The indicators are monitored during the year 

Page 40



through the normal revenue and capital monitoring processes. All 
Treasury Management limits have been adhered to. 

6.    Income and Reserves

    Income monitoring is an integral part of financial management. 
Current income forecasts are as follows: Income monitoring is an 
integral part of financial management. Below shows the current 
income (surpluses)/shortfalls already experienced for April to July 
2021. The table also shows the latest 2021/22 projections for the 
major streams of income.

Service Deficit/ 
(Surplus) 

April – 
July      

2021 
£’000

Projected
Income

2021/22
£’000

Income
Budget

2021/22
£’000

Deficit/
(Surplus)

£’000

Deficit/
(Surplus)

%

Car Parking 122 (1,025) (1,147) 122 11%
Planning 
Applications & 
Advise

(52) (454) (402) (52) (13%)

Employment 
Estates

(2) (327) (327) - -

Garden Waste (168) (266) (245) (21) (9%)

Business Rates 
Pooling Gain

45 (165) (135) (30) (22%)

Licencing 15 (99) (114) 15 13%

Interest & 
Investment 
Income

35 (25) (105) 80 77%

Local Land 
Charges

(10) (105) (95) (10) (10%)

TOTAL (105) (2,466) (2,570) 104 4%

The table above shows that there is a shortfall in car parking income of 
£122,000 in the first four months of the year and a shortfall of £80,000 in 
treasury management investment income.

Planning income is currently predicted to be over the budget set by 
£52,000.

Page 41



7.  Management Actions

7.1 The table below sets out the relevant management actions for the 
revenue expenditure and income variations shown above. It is best 
practice for the Council to state whether there are any corrective 
actions that need to be taken for the variances identified in 2021/22. 

                                                                       Budget 
variations 

overspend/
(underspend)

£000 Management Action
Reductions in 
expenditure/additional 
income

Planning income (52)

This will be kept under review 
during 2021/22. It is recommended 
in a separate report on this Hub 
Committee agenda to fund 
temporary planning salaries of 
£60,000 from this additional 
income.

Land Charges Income (10) Income levels will be kept under 
review in 2021/22.

Staff and Member travel and 
expenses (50) The projected underspend will be 

kept under review during the year.
Homelessness prevention costs (50) Homelessness prevention costs will 

be kept under review in 2021/22.

Garden Waste (21) Income levels will be kept under 
review in 2021/22

Business Rates Pooling Gain (30)
This will be reviewed again 
following the Business Rates 
Pooling forecast for Qtr 2.

Increases in 
expenditure/reductions in 
income

Covid Expenditure 114
This expenditure will be kept under 
close review and will be included in 
the Government DELTA returns.

Planning salaries 60

It is recommended to fund this 
temporary salary cost from 
additional planning income in 
2021/22. 

Licencing Income 15 Licencing income will be kept under 
review in 2021/22.

Page 42



                                                                       Budget 
variations 

overspend/
(underspend)

£000 Management Action

Council Tax collection income 20

Recovery of summons costs will be 
kept under review in 2021/22

Car Parking Income 122

Will be kept under review for 
remainder of the year. Income 
looks to be increasing now Covid 
guidelines continue to be relaxed.

3 weekly waste trials 50

There is a separate report on the 
Hub Committee agenda on 21 
September which recommends that 
the trial of the three weekly 
residual (black sack) collections is 
not extended to the whole of the 
Borough in Spring 2022 and 
recognises the potential impact of 
making a major service change at 
a time when significant structural 
changes are expected in the waste 
industry and other external 
pressures, including the national 
LGV driver shortage.

Investment Income 80

A cost pressure for £80,000 has 
been built into the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy for 2022/23 for 
the reduction in treasury 
management income.

Provision for bad and doubtful 
debt 25 The level of debt will be kept under 

close review in 2021/22.

8.  Options available and consideration of risk

8.1 At this early stage it is important to note that these forecasts can 
change over the course of the year. Managers can seek out 
opportunities to reduce any overspends, whilst considering the risk 
of any adverse impact on the customer experience.

9. Proposed Way Forward

9.1 Revenue budget monitoring will continue on a regular basis and 
further reports will be brought to the Hub Committee each quarter.

Page 43



10. Implications
 
Implications Relevant 

to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y The Council is required to make arrangements for 
the proper administration of its financial affairs.  As 
part of those arrangements, the Council is under a 
duty to monitor its budgets throughout the 
financial year and to take appropriate action to deal 
with any deterioration in the financial position 
revealed by the regular monitoring.

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for 
money

Y The report identifies a projected deficit of 
£37,000 which is 0.5% of the overall budget 
set for 2021/22 of £7.302 million. This is very 
close to a break-even position.

It is recommended to Council to utilise funding of 
£190,000 from the COVID-19 Losses Earmarked 
Reserve, to fund COVID-19 expenditure in 2021/22 
and the projected net losses on car parking income 
in 2021/22. This Earmarked Reserve has a current 
uncommitted balance of £502,000 and the reserve 
was set up for this purpose. If the £190,000 was 
funded from this reserve, this would leave a 
balance of £312,000 in the Covid Losses 
Earmarked Reserve at 31.3.2022.

Annually transfers are made from Earmarked 
Reserves to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Account as part of the closure of the 
end of year Accounts. As the accounting entries can 
be identified at an early stage, a recommendation 
is made to Council to agree the accounting entries 
in 2021/22. Only Council can approve the use of 
Earmarked Reserves over £30,000.

Risk Y 1) Budget variances – continual monthly 
budget monitoring at all levels within the 
Council ensures early identification of 
variances. Reporting to the Hub Committee 
provides an opportunity for Members to 
identify and instigate remedial action where 
appropriate. 

2) Resource Planning – the Hub Committee 
takes into account any significant issues when 

Page 44



developing the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. These are identified in the 
Management Actions section of the report 
(Section 7).

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy 

The budget monitoring process supports all of the 
Delivery Plans within the Council’s strategic vision, 
‘A Plan for West Devon’.

Climate Change – 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact

A report was presented to Council on 8th December 
2020 ‘Climate Change and Biodiversity Strategy 
and Action Plan update’. 

In March 2021, Council approved to set up an 
Earmarked Reserve for £200,000 for the Recovery 
Plan and Corporate Strategy.

Further detail is set out in the Council’s ‘A Plan for 
West Devon’ strategic vision.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality and 
Diversity

None directly arising from this report.

Safeguarding None directly arising from this report.
Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

None directly arising from this report.

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

None directly arising from this report.

Other 
implications

None directly arising from this report.

Supporting Information

Appendix A – Schedule of Reserves (Earmarked Reserves and Unearmarked 
Reserves).

Appendix B – Savings/Additional income schedule

Background Papers:
None

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX  A

RESERVES - PROJECTED BALANCES APPENDIX A

Opening Additions Predicted Projected
Balance to Reserve Spend Balance

01.04.2021 2021/22 2021/22 31.03.2022 Comments
£000's £000's £000's £000's

EARMARKED RESERVES

Specific Reserves - General Fund

2016/17 Budget Surplus Contingency W0848 86 0 (51) 35
This is the Budget Surplus from 2016/17 which was put into an 
Earmarked Reserve. Commitments mainly relate to the Capital 
Programme £50k

Broadband Community Support W0932 50 50 100

As per the report to the Hub Committee on 1st December 2020, 
Council approved the creation of a Broadband Community Support 
Earmarked Reserve, to be financed by transferring £50k from the 
existing Business Rates Retention Earmarked Reserve in 2020/21 and 
a further £50k from the Business Rates Discretionary fund (Additional 
Restrictions Grants, ARG Scheme) in 2021/22

Car Parking Maintenance W0833 484 0 (158) 326 The commitments include Brook Street Car Park

COVID Losses Earmarked Reserve W0930 221 281 (190) 312

On 16th February 2021 Council approved to transfer the COVID-19 LA 
Support Grant (4th tranche of £151K and the bank reconciliation 
adjustment of £69K) into a COVID Earmarked Reserve.In addition it 
was recommended to transfer the fifth tranche of COVID funding of 
£281,404 into this Reserve in 2021/22.

Economic Grant Initiatives W0914 26 0 (4) 22
Elections W0903 20 20 0 40
Environmental Health Initiatives W0857 20 0 (2) 18

Financial Stability W0859 454 0 0 454

This reserve was created in 2018/19 from the Business Rates Pilot 
funding. This funding was set aside to assist to smooth out future 
years' funding variations or reductions, in particular any changes from 
the Fair Funding Review (this has been delayed and is unlikely to 
happen until 2023/24).

Flood Works W0915 15 0 0 15
Grounds Maintenance W0901 48 0 (26) 22 The commitment relates to an Electric ride on mower

Homelessness Prevention W0924 173 0 (5) 168
This reserve has been created following underspends on 
Homelessness Prevention Costs in previous years

ICT Development W0836 39 25 (41) 23
Commitments mainly relate to the New IT Procurement, Hub Cttee Jan 
20 Min Ref HC73 (£65k)

Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) W0850 399 0 (267) 132

Commitments mainly relate to the upgrading of Hayedown Depot and 
£85k in respect of detailed design, specification and tendering of the 
Brentor Community Housing Scheme (Hub Committee 16/3/21). This 
reserve originated from New Homes Bonus funding. 

Leisure Services W0855 58 (44) 14 Commitments relate to Capital Programme Funding,
Maintenance Fund (Estates) W0927 242 0 0 242

Management, Maintenance & Risk Management W0861 302 118 0 420

This is a relatively new reserve set up to manage the ongoing 
maintenance costs of the Council's Investment Property Portfolio. The 
contributions to the reserve equate to 10% of the rental income on an 
annual basis.

New Homes Bonus (NHB) W0804 452 293 (375) 370
The NHB is used to support the funding of the revenue budget and the 
Capital Programme. The commitments relate to £192,772 to fund the 
2021/22 revenue budget and £182,000 to fund the capital programme

Outdoor Sports & Recreation Grants W0852 16 0 0 16

Planning Policy and Major Developments W0840 147 0 0 147
This reserve is for all planning matters and is also to meet appeal 
costs. 

Recovery Plan and Corporate Strategy W0864 200 0 (198) 2
In March 2021 the Hub Committee recommended to Council to transfer 
£200k of the 2020/21 projected surplus into a new Recovery Plan and 
Corporate Strategy Earmarked Reserve.

Revenue Grants W0821 912 0 (33) 879

This reserve comprises of government grants received for specific 
initiatives or new burdens and are held in the reserve for accounting 
purposes. The annual contribution of £32,500 from this reserve relates 
to the funding of three housing posts which were made permanent in 
the 2020/21 budget process and are funded from the Flexible 
Homelessness Support Grant.

Salary Savings W0863 80 (80) 0

This is a new reserve set up to hold salary savings from 2020/21 to be 
ringfenced to support salary costs in 2021/22. (Hub 16/3/21). Some 
work had to be postponed in 2020/21 due to the extra work pressures 
of the pandemic and this work will need to be carried out in 2021/22 to 
maintain and enhance service delivery and address recommendations 
from internal audit reports. 

Support Services Trading Opportunities W0856 31 0 (16) 15
This reserve was created from external work carried out in other 
Councils e.g. HR work with Councils also embarking on a 
Transformation Programme.

Strategic Change (T18) W0925 67 0 (10) 57 The commitments are £10,000 for Kilworthy Park marketing.

Vehicle Replacement W0931 298 50 (251) 97
This is a new reserve set up to fund the Council's vehicle replacement 
programme (Council 4 Dec 2018). £50K a year is contributed to this 
reserve.

Waste & Cleansing Options Review W0853 176 0 (6) 170
Other Reserves below £15,000 (combined) 56 0 (3) 53
Sub Total excluding the Business Rates 
Reserves

5,072 837 (1,760) 4,149

Business Rates Retention W0824 1,260 (89) 1,171

This relates to a timing issue on the accounting adjustments required 
for the localisation of business rates. This reserve also deals with any 
volatility in Business Rate income e.g. due to appeals. Commitments 
relate to the Town Centre Support Initiative and £30,000 for the Audio 
Visual Equipment in the Guildhall, Tavistock (Hub Committee 8/12/20)

S.31 Compensation Grant (Business Rates) W0866 2,609 (2,523) 86

This is a new reserve set up to hold the business rates S31 grants
received in 2020/21 to offset the business rate reliefs given to
businesses during lockdown. Under current Collection Fund accounting
rules, the S31 grants received in 2020/21 will not be discharged
against the Collection Fund deficit until 2021/22 onwards.

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES 8,941 837 (4,372) 5,406

TOTAL UNEARMARKED RESERVES W0950 1,294 0 (37) 1,257

Note: This Unearmarked Reserve has a minimum balance of £900,000 
(set by Members as part of the Budget Process). The projected deficit 
for 2021/22 of £37,000 (as set out in this report) would be funded from 
this Unearmarked Reserve.

TOTAL REVENUE RESERVES (EARMARKED AND 
UNEARMARKED RESERVES)

10,235 837 (4,409) 6,663

Cost 
Centre

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary of Savings and Additional Income from the 2021/22 Budget Setting Process APPENDIX B

The table below summarises the savings and additional income that were included in the 2021/22 Budget Setting process and indicates whether
the saving/additional income is on track to be delivered.

Savings and Additional Income for the 2021/22 Budget
Income/Savings 

Target for 
2021/22  (£)

Latest 
Projection for 

2021/22 (£)
Narrative

1`
Income from Investment Properties (£300k is in the base budget 
for 2021/22)

20,000 20,000
This additional income will be achieved in 2021/22. In 2020/21, the 
Council received 98% of rental income (£1.1 million) on its four 
investment properties.

2 Re-procurement of contracts (e.g. savings from Leisure Contract) 117,000 Nil

A report on Leisure is on the Hub Committee Forward Plan for 
October and any financial implications arising from Member 
decisions within the report will be built into the next Budget 
Monitoring report.

3
Income from three weekly trials (Hub Committee 15th September 
2020)

50,000 Nil

The Revenue Budget for 2021/22 included potential additional 
income of £50,000 in 21/22 and a further £75,000 in 22/23 for income 
from the possibility to move to a three weekly waste collection. It was 
stated that this was dependent on the outcome of the results from 
the three weekly trials. There is a separate report on the Hub 
Committee agenda on 21 September which recommends that the 
trial of the three weekly residual (black sack) collections is not 
extended to the whole of the Borough in Spring 2022 and recognises 
the potential impact of making a major service change at a time 
when significant structural changes are expected in the waste 
industry and other external pressures, including the national LGV 
driver shortage.

4 Increase in Garden Waste income 40,000 61,000 Additional income of £21,000 is currently anticipated in 2021/22.

5
Reduction in Pension Employer secondary rate contributions                                                    
(due to a reduction in the actuarial deficit at 31.3.2019 - based on 
17 year deficit recovery period)

80,000 80,000 This saving will be achieved in 2021/22.

6 Public Conveniences - business rates savings 18,000 18,000
Legislation has been enacted so that Public Conveniences no longer 
have to pay Business Rates so this saving will be achieved.

7 Kilworthy Park - reduction in operating costs 10,000 10,000 This saving will be achieved in 2021/22.

8 Reduction in ICT contracts 8,000 8,000 This saving will be achieved in 2021/22.

9 Implement e-billing in council tax 1,200 Nil
The aim is to offer an e-billing service to Council Tax payers and this 
is a project which is currently being progressed.

TOTAL £344,200 £197,000

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



NOT FOR PUBLICATION
This report contains exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 

1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972
(applies to Appendices A and B)

Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 21 September 2021

Title: Capital Budget Monitoring 2021/2022

Portfolio Area: Performance & Resources – Cllr C Edmonds

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y

Author: Clare Scotton

Pauline Henstock

Role: Finance Business Partner

Head of Finance Practice

Contact: Tel. 01803 861559                                                           
E-mail: clare.scotton@swdevon.gov.uk

Tel. 01803 861377                                                          
E-mail: pauline.henstock@swdevon.gov.uk

Recommendations:  
It is RECOMMENDED that the Hub Committee resolves to:-

i. endorse the contents of the Report; and
ii. RECOMMEND to Council to increase the 2021/22 

budget for Community Project Grants from £15,000 to 
£30,000, with the additional £15,000 being funded 
from the New Homes Bonus reserve.

1. Executive summary 
1.1 The report advises Members of the financial position as at 31st 
July 2021 for the purposes of budget monitoring. All capital 
projects are within the individual capital budgets approved by 
Members. The total capital budget for 2021/22 is £8,411,000 
of which £465,446 has been spent to date (Appendix A).
2. Background 

Page 51

Agenda Item 12

mailto:clare.scotton@swdevon.gov.uk
mailto:pauline.henstock@swdevon.gov.uk


2.1 The capital programme for 2021/22 was approved by Council on 
16 February 2021 (CM36 and HC56 refer). This report provides an 
update on the Capital Programme.

3. Outcomes/outputs 

3.1 Members are requested to note the following updates on Capital 
Projects:

3.2 Community Project Grants (previously Village Hall & 
Community Project Grants)

The Council has a Community Grants programme that can support 
capital schemes across the Borough for things such as large sports 
equipment, repairs to village halls or large scale tree planting. The 
maximum typical grant available to any scheme is £5,000 or up to 
50% of the project’s costs, whichever is the lower. 

The budget has been £15,000 for a number of years however this has 
always been fully spent and applications held over to the next 
financial year. By June 2021, the fund had already been fully 
committed with 5 schemes being awarded funds. Further applications 
have been received totalling £4,600 with 7 months of the year still to 
go.  It is therefore recommended that the budget be increased to 
£30,000 in 2021/22 to support more schemes that enhance our 
community facilities. The Corporate Strategy Delivery Plan will also 
recommend that the £15,000 uplift is for each year of the Corporate 
Strategy.

3.3 Affordable Housing 

The budget for Affordable Housing in 2021/22 is £50,000.  The 
budget brought forward from previous years is £189,000 giving a 
total of £239,000 available in 2021/22.

In recent times the capital programme has facilitated affordable 
housing developments in rural areas by providing a sum of money, 
normally between £10,000 and £15,000 per plot, to enable the 
development to proceed.  These schemes are typically on exception 
sites and therefore do not necessarily rely on cross subsidy from open 
market properties although the JLP allows for this now. Evidence from 
a Registered Provider (RP) is provided to ensure additional money is 
required to make the scheme viable.  Money is normally required 
where there are abnormals on the site or there is a shortage of public 
subsidy.  

Page 52



This budget is anticipated to be required to assist with the 
redevelopment of the hostel in Tavistock. The planning application 
has now been submitted and a future report will be provided to 
members.

3.4 Private Sector Renewals including Disabled Facilities 
Grants (DFG’s) 

As at the end of July (Month 4), £190,933 has been spent on DFGs 
compared to the allocation for 21/22 of £860,000. In additional there 
is an underspend from previous years of £392,000. Due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the number of DFG applications significantly 
reduced in the first part of last financial year. Following the relaxing 
of the lockdown measures, the number of applications has  increased 
beyond levels expected in a “normal” year. This may result in a 
number of grant applications that have been approved but waiting for 
work to commence due to shortages in labour and materials.

3.5 Community Housing Schemes 

The Community Housing Strategy was put in place to support the 
development of homes accessible to those with local connections for 
whom the cost of market housing (to purchase and rent) is beyond 
their reach. Due to the current property market, smaller lower cost 
housing is being sold at unaffordable local prices.  

The Brentor Community Housing scheme planning application pack is 
now complete in readiness for submission to Dartmoor National Park 
Authority for their consideration in the usual way. However, before 
submitting the application, we are finalising the last stages of land 
assembly. The application will be submitted thereafter at the earliest 
opportunity. Subject to a successful planning application, the Council 
has approved the expenditure of £85,000 from the Innovation Fund 
(Invest to Earn) Earmarked Reserve, to undertake detailed design, 
specification and tendering of the Brentor scheme.

3.6 Waste Fleet 

It is envisaged that the budget will be utilised in 2021/22. 
Expenditure to the end of July (month 4) is £19,137 leaving a balance 
of £305,863.

3.7 Hayedown Depot – upgrade and new drainage 

Page 53



The depot upgrade and drainage are being considered by Engineers 
as part of the Fire Prevention Plan, a legal requirement for the site.  
Following this review it is expected that works will be tendered and 
carried out this financial year. Initial indications are that the budget 
may be insufficient but further value engineering and design 
considerations need to be undertaken.  Members will be kept updated 
when further information is available.

3.8 Parklands Leisure Centre – contribution to moveable 
floor

The moveable floor at Okehampton, Parklands Leisure Centre was a 
Sport England requirement of lottery funding that was levered in to 
finance a large part of the building.

Since Parklands was built, there have been difficulties with the 
operation of the moveable floor. This money has been set aside within 
the capital programme as a partnership contribution to the cost of an 
engineering solution if the floor breaks down. There have been 
several repair works over the past few months but the floor is now 
working as it should. It is felt prudent to leave the budget in at this 
point.

3.9 Tavistock Viaduct

As part of the Amended Budget proposals for 2020/21, Members 
approved reducing the budget from £100k to £20k. This was following 
a Condition Survey being undertaken on the Viaduct which advised 
that the initially proposed extensive repair works would not now be 
required during 2020/21 and the capital budget can be limited to 
further vegetation clearance and some drainage improvements.

Further to the approval of a £40K capital budget for the Tavistock 
Viaduct Walk at Council in February 2020, a walkover geotechnical 
assessment of the cutting was undertaken by specialists in early 
2021. Following clearance of strips of vegetation to expose the rock 
face, further rope-access inspections will be undertaken this autumn. 
It is anticipated there will be some cyclical felling of trees on rock 
faces in higher hazard sections and removing loose rock (scaling) 
where necessary. The budget will continue to be utilised this financial 
year to facilitate this work and should be carried forward into future 
financial years on the expectation that further works will be needed.

3.10 Car Park Resurfacing 

Page 54



Officers have identified a number of car parks across the Borough 
which are in need of resurfacing.  A budget of £30,000 per annum 
has been built into the capital programme budget to be funded by a 
£30,000 contribution annually from the Car Park Maintenance 
Reserve.

3.11 Green Homes Grant

In July 2020 the Government announced a £2 billion Green Homes 
Grant (GHG) scheme to save households money, cut carbon and 
create jobs. The Council, as part of a consortium with South Hams 
DC, submitted a bid and have been awarded a total sum of £683,500 
(WDBC share).

The grant will be used to deliver external wall insulations and air 
source heat pumps for eligible households and will be delivered 
during 2021/22. Due to major supply chain difficulties, no 
installations have taken place to date.

The installations will reduce fuel poverty and reduce carbon emissions 
from the households benefitting from the grants. A range of metrics 
including lifetime financial and carbon savings will be calculated and 
reported back at the end of the project.

The full report was presented at Hub on 20th October 2020, minute 
ref HC 31.

3.12 New Payroll Solution

The procurement process has now taken place for a joint Payroll 
System with South Hams District Council. The high quality system 
will have the added benefit of recording individuals’ objectives.

3.13 Replacement of IT Hardware 

Following extensive analysis of performance requirements, a number 
of platforms and configurations were considered, including cloud.   A 
replacement for the existing servers and storage has been purchased 
and the new hardware will be installed and configured throughout the 
autumn. This will provide an excellent foundation for delivering digital 
services over the coming years.

Page 55



3.14 S106 Deposits

A separate report on S106 contributions and expenditure is included 
on this Hub Committee agenda.

4. Options available and consideration of risk 

4.1 This is considered on a project by project basis as part of the 
project appraisal document and initial business case for each capital 
project.

5.  Proposed Way Forward 

5.1 This is considered on a project by project basis.

Page 56



6. Implications 

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Statutory powers are provided by the S1
Localism Act 2011 general power of
competence.

The capital programme is implemented in line
with the Council’s legal requirements, which
are examined on a project-by-project basis.
To date there are no undue legal concerns.

The public interest has been assessed and it is 
considered that the public interest will be 
better served by not disclosing the information 
in the Appendices A and B. Accordingly this 
report contains exempt Information as defined 
in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972.

Financial 
Implications to 
include reference 
to Value for 
Money

The total capital budget for 2021/22 is 
£8,411,000 of which £465,446 has been spent 
as at 31st July 2021 (Appendix A).

It is recommended to Council to increase the 
2021/22 budget for Community Project Grants 
from £15,000 to £30,000, with the additional 
£15,000 being funded from the New Homes 
Bonus reserve.

All the capital projects are within the individual 
capital budgets approved by Members. The 
regular monitoring of the Capital Programme 
ensures the Council has arrangements in place 
to secure economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Page 57



Risk The Council demonstrates that capital 
investment contributes to corporate priorities, 
provides value for money and takes account of 
the revenue implications of the investment. 
Regular monitoring of the capital programme 
and consideration of new pressures enables 
Members to control the programme and secure 
appropriate mitigation where problems arise.

There is regular quarterly monitoring of the 
Capital Programme to Members where any 
cost overruns are identified at an early stage.

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy

The Capital Programme supports all six of the 
Corporate Themes of the Council, Homes, 
Enterprise, Communities, Environment and 
Wellbeing.

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact 

The Council declared a Climate Change and 
Biodiversity Emergency on 23 July 2019 and 
a Climate Change Action Plan was presented 
to Council in December 2019. 

Further detail is set out in the Council’s ‘A 
Plan for West Devon’ strategy.

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications This matter is assessed as part of each specific 
project.

Equality and 
Diversity

This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project.

Safeguarding This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project.

Community Safety, 
Crime and 
Disorder

This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project.

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing

This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project.

Other implications None

Page 58



Supporting Information

Appendices:

Exempt Appendix A – Details of capital expenditure to 31st July 2021
Exempt Appendix B – Details of Exempt schemes approved as part 
of the 2021/22 Capital Budget

Background Papers:
None

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 21 September 2021 

Title: Planning Improvement Plan 

Portfolio Area: Protecting and Planning our Built Environment 
– Cllr Caroline Mott  

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: upon the expiry of the 
Overview And Scrutiny Cali-in period 

Author: Drew Powell Role: Director of Governance & 
Assurance 

Contact: Drew.powell@swdevon.gov.uk 

Recommendations:
That the Hub Committee: 
1. adopts the Planning Improvement Plan (‘the Plan’) as set out at 

Appendix A; 

2. monitors ongoing performance of the Plan on a six monthly basis 
with an update report no later than March 2022;

3. RECOMMENDS to Council to fund the cost of temporary planning 
staffing resources of £60,400 (West Devon BC share of the cost), 
from the additional planning income generated in 2021/22 (as set 
out in 2.6).

1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Members on the progress of 
the Development Management and Planning Enforcement Review, 
to seek adoption of the Planning Improvement Plan (‘the Plan’) as 
resolved at the Hub Committee on 27 April 2021 (Minute HC85 
refers) and to secure a recommendation to Council to approve the 
use of the additional planning income to cover the cost of temporary 
staff within the Development Management Service.

Page 65

Agenda Item 13

mailto:Drew.powell@swdevon.gov.uk


1.2 There remains a high volume of planning applications and 
enforcement cases that are being dealt with by the team and 
recruiting suitably experienced officers to vacancies is a challenge 
both locally and nationally.

1.3 The high demand on the service has influenced the capacity and 
therefore the pace at which the team can implement positive 
changes.

1.4 A comprehensive analysis comparing the increased demand on the 
service with the capacity to deliver has identified a clear gap. 
However, the additional income generated by the increase in 
applications offers an opportunity to close the gap between demand 
and capacity whilst the Plan is implemented. 

1.5 A better understanding of the need for additional, permanent 
resource will be established as the benefits of the Plan are realised.

1.6 This report sets out the context and the progress that has been 
made in terms of the planning service in general and, through the 
proposed Plan, identifies a series of actions and a detailed timeline 
to secure further improvement.

1.7 In order to ensure that the scope and content of the Plan was well 
developed and deliverable it was agreed, after consultation with Cllr 
Mott, as Hub Lead, to engage the Planning Advisory Service (PAS) 
to support the process.

1.8 PAS have worked with officers to develop the Plan in line with their 
new Development Management Toolkit. The Plan is effectively 
endorsed by PAS and sets out a clear direction of travel to secure 
sustainable improvement across the service.

2. Background

2.1 Development Management and Planning Enforcement are key 
services delivered by the Council. The services can be highly 
complex and involve significant consultation and engagement with 
many different parties. As a result, the services are highly visible to 
many within our communities, businesses and for those that interact 
with these services, as it is a key indicator of the effectiveness of the 
Council.

2.2 These services are receiving year on year increases in applications 
and reported planning breaches; both services are struggling to 
meet the needs of service users and there have been a number of 
issues as a result of protracted timescales and/or quality issues.

Page 66



2.3 The services have seen a high turnover of staff and therefore have 
been operating with temporary staff, which whilst helpful in terms of 
capacity, can adversely impact on continuity and consistency of 
decisions. 

2.4 It is recognised that there is a need to develop and implement robust 
quality control and assurance measures, for example the checking of 
reports by senior Development Management officers, and to secure 
oversight of the key component parts of the service including case 
management, specialists and internal consultees.

2.5 It is vital that the relationship with internal and external consultees is 
strengthened through the introduction of service level agreements, 
or similar, to secure and monitor, timely responses in line with the 
targets set by the service. The relationship with legal is a good 
example and work is continuing to help ensure that the legal service 
has sufficient resources, or access to them, to effectively support the 
planning function.

2.6 The increasing demands on the service is reflected by the increased 
income. Budgeted planning income for 2021/22 is £402,000. Income 
received to the end of July is £186,424 compared to a predicted 
£133,984. This represents additional income of £52,440 after only 
four months of the financial year.

2.7 At the April 2021 meeting, Members agreed that a review needed to 
be undertaken with identifiable actions, targets and milestones set 
out in an Improvement Plan (Minute HC85 refers). 

3. Outcomes/outputs 

3.1 The purpose of the Review and the proposed Plan is to deliver 
improvements in the following broad areas:
• Performance
• Quality
• Communication 
• Customer and Member satisfaction 

3.2 An Improvement Plan has been drawn up, with the support of PAS, 
which aligns with the themes set out in the PAS Development 
Management Toolkit. The Improvement Plan is attached at Appendix 
A to this report and the PAS Toolkit is attached at:

https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/development-mgmt/development-
management-challenge-toolkit

4. Progress to date

Page 67

https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/development-mgmt/development-management-challenge-toolkit
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/development-mgmt/development-management-challenge-toolkit


4.1 A Review Board has been established, currently led by the Director 
of Governance & Assurance, and a weekly meeting considers 
priority actions and improvements.

4.2 There has been incremental improvement in a number of areas as 
follows; 
 Validation: a timely validation is crucial in order to ensure that 

new applications are allocated to case officers as quickly as 
possible. We have allocated more resources to the front end of 
the validation process to deal with the challenge of increased 
numbers of applications. There was a 12% increase in 
applications from 2019 to 2020 and the numbers in the first half 
of 2021 are 3% higher than the equivalent period in 2020.

 We have subsequently addressed a backlog of applications 
awaiting registration/validation, and have reduced the number 
from approximately 300 to 54. We continue to work towards our 
target of registering applications in three working days.

 Currently, over 50% of applications submitted are invalid. As part 
of a suite of measures to reduce this failure demand by 
applicants, we have reviewed the Validation Checklist (which is a 
statutory process) and this is now out for consultation with all our 
external consultees, including Towns and Parishes and agents. 
The consultation finishes on 14th September. We will also be 
consulting internally on the Checklist. 

 Pre-Application Advice.  We have reallocated two officers to 
focus on Pre-Applications and will now work on developing a 
process to monitor the effectiveness of pre-application advice that 
should encourage more pre-application submissions

 External relationships.  Recognising that our relationship with 
agents and developers is key to providing an efficient customer 
focussed service we have reintroduced our Agents and 
Developers Forum. The first meeting was held on 25th August 
and we have agreed a programme of topics to be discussed at 
future meetings that will be of mutual benefit.

 We have drafted a Memorandum of Understanding with Parishes 
and Towns which has been approved by lead members and has 
now been sent to parishes, towns and the Devon Association for 
Local Councils. This Memorandum sets out how the Council and 
the Parishes /Towns will work together effectively to enable local 
views to be considered in a timely manner as part of the 
application process.  

 We are currently working on a Planning Customer Charter that 
will set out our service standards, our commitments to 

Page 68



customers, and our expectations from customers to maximise an 
effective service. This will be drafted in conjunction with the 
Thematic Delivery Plans supporting ‘A Plan for West Devon’.

 Internal relationships.  To improve internal consultee responses, 
we have contracted Devon County Council to provide ecology 
advice where needed for applications which has significantly 
improved the speed of response on these matters. 

 Planning Enforcement There are now fortnightly meetings 
between Legal Services and Planning Enforcement to discuss 
current cases and actions, and to prioritise matters.  

 We have recommenced meetings with Ward Members to review 
enforcement cases within their wards and you will continue to 
see diary invites over the next couple of months. It is our 
intention to hold these meeting on a 4 – 6 month basis.  

 We are undertaking a training programme with the new and 
existing members of the Enforcement Team and it is our intention 
that the training, alongside the work with the Planning Advisory 
Service, will improve Service Delivery. 

 Despite the significant change in staffing and experience within 
the Enforcement Team we are managing to maintain equilibrium 
between the number of cases received and closed.  It is 
expected that as the new team members increase in experience 
and training that we will be able to reduce the number of 
outstanding enforcement cases.

 Capacity.  We have undertaken a detailed assessment of the 
volume of work versus the capacity of the present establishment 
team to deliver in line with Government targets. This has 
identified that whilst the volume of work has increased, capacity 
has not increased in line, as detailed above. The report contains 
proposals to cover the resulting budget pressures in the short 
term and sets out plans for the longer term. 

 Legal Services has contracted an additional locum capacity to 
support the Development Management and Planning 
Enforcement services.  

4.3 The ongoing process detailed above continues to look at ways to 
implement improvements and efficiencies. However, in order to 
ensure that the Development Management and Planning 
Enforcement services are as effective as they should be, particularly 
in respect to the quality of decision-making and customer service, 
Officers have been working with the support of the Planning 

Page 69



Advisory Service to help develop and refine the draft Improvement 
Plan.

4.4 PAS is an experienced team, both in terms of planning knowledge 
and improvement skills, and can draw both on its own experience as 
well as colleagues across Local Government to provide challenge, 
guidance and support to specific areas of the Plan.

4.5 PAS has been developing a Development Management Toolkit 
which sets out ‘What a good Council looks like’ and allows a DM 
service to challenge and score the service against these criteria. We 
have recently held detailed workshops lead by Mr Pete Ford, who is 
the Principal Consultant for Development Management at PAS, with 
members of the specialist and case management team on six of the 
fifteen themes set out in the toolkit ar:

https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/development-mgmt/development-
management-challenge-toolkit

 
4.6 Mr Ford has made the following observations ‘The Development 

Management challenge sessions involved a good selection of staff at 
all levels in the service.  It was clear to me that staff are generally 
very committed and motivated in their roles and there is evidence of 
good practice across the service.  It was also encouraging to see 
staff being self-reflective, acknowledging that there is room for 
improvement and being forthcoming with ideas on how that 
improvement can be made.’

4.7 Mr Ford added, ‘During the discussions there was an acceptance 
that Development Management in any Council will face challenge 
from parties who are unhappy with an outcome.  However, staff also 
acknowledged that there is work that the Councils can do to improve 
the customer experience and better engage with applicants and the 
public.  In my view, the approach being taken by the Councils is the 
correct one, using the Development Challenge work to review the 
Development Management service and agree a deliverable set of 
actions that will build on the good practice that is evident whilst also 
addressing areas of weakness within the service.  I am very pleased 
that the Councils have reached out to PAS to act as a critical friend 
in the improvement journey and I am looking forward to working with 
the Planning team to advise and support the improvement plan’.

4.8 To date the process has taken us through relevant parts of the toolkit 
and identified gaps and areas for improvement. As PAS is piloting 
the new Toolkit there has been no charge for this initial support to 
the Council.

4.9 This process has helped form the updated Improvement Plan at 
Appendix A which sets out the key areas that we need to focus on to 

Page 70

https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/development-mgmt/development-management-challenge-toolkit
https://www.local.gov.uk/pas/development-mgmt/development-management-challenge-toolkit


improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the service. We intend to 
hold additional ‘in-house’ workshops to explore some areas further 
and enhance the Improvement Plan. We propose to engage PAS to 
act as a critical friend and support us where necessary through the 
implementation.

5. Recruitment

5.1 We have successfully recruited to the three vacancies in the core 
enforcement team so that the Enforcement Case Officer Team is 
now fully staffed. We have appointed a specialist contractor to 
provide support, on an interim basis, whilst we recruit to the 
specialist vacancy. Our contractor is concentrating on complex 
matters, backlogs and providing consistency across the Team. 

5.2      Within the Development Management Team, we have recruited to 
three Level 6 vacancies but have yet to successfully recruit to the 
vacant level 5 role.

5.3 We continue with some temporary staffing resources in both the 
case management and specialist teams which are covering 
vacancies and the increased demand set out in 4.2 above.

5.4 It is proposed that the cost of this of £60,400 is financed by the 
additional planning income set out in 2.6 and that a further report is 
brought back to Members, in due course, with regard to the need for 
any future increase in permanent planning roles. 

6. Strategic Context

6.1 The Council’s new Corporate Strategy – ‘A Plan for West Devon’ - 
sets out a range of themes and associated aims supported by 
Thematic Delivery Plan plans. The Development Management and 
Planning Enforcement services form part of the wider planning 
function alongside, for example, the Joint Local Plan, Strategic 
Planning and Neighbourhood planning teams, which are essential to 
deliver against our strategic aims.

6.2 It is important that each component part works together. In view of 
this, part of the improvement process will also focus on these 
relationships to ensure that the operational arrangements align with 
the broader strategic ambition whilst delivering effective and 
improved performance against increasing demand. The intention 
being to strengthen the strategic oversight and management of all 
aspects that contribute to the Council’s planning service.

7. Next Steps

Page 71



7.1 Adoption of the proposed Planning Improvement Plan and 
implementation with the support of the PAS will secure measurable 
improvements in overall service performance and support delivery of 
the Council’s Corporate Strategy ‘A Plan For West Devon’.

7.2  It is proposed that the Plan will be further developed through 
additional workshops and work with PAS. An update on performance 
against the Plan will be presented to the Hub Committee on a six 
monthly basis.

7.3 Approval of the £60,400 from additional planning income will secure 
temporary support for ongoing service delivery.

8. Implications

Implications Relevant 
to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y The Implementation Plan will ensure improved 
governance and decision-making 

Financial 
implications to 
include reference 
to value for money

Y It is recommended to fund the cost of temporary 
planning staffing resources of £60,400 (West Devon 
share of the cost), from the additional planning 
income generated in 2021/22 (as set out in 2.6).

A further report will be brought back to Members, as 
part of the budget setting process, with regard to the 
need for any future increase in permanent planning 
roles.

The Implementation Plan will look at resources (staff 
and financial) and all financial aspects of the 
service. 

Risk Y That the Council fails to deliver a Service that meets 
the expectations of Members and our Customers 

Supporting 
Corporate 
Strategy 

Y Council, Homes, Environment, Enterprise 

Climate Change - 
Carbon / 
Biodiversity 
Impact 

N No direct carbon or diversity impacts arise from this 
report

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality and 
Diversity

N/A  

Page 72



Safeguarding N/A  

Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder

N/A

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing

N/A

Other implications N/A 

Supporting Information
Appendices: 
Appendix A: Development Management and Planning Enforcement 
Improvement Plan  

Background Papers:
None

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Planning Improvement Plan 

PAS Toolkit Themes Ref Action When Who

1.1 Develop, implement and monitor against a suite of qualitative and 
quantitative performance measures.

November 2021 
(align with 
implementation of 
new software)

PW /CB

1.2 Review and update data reported to DM Committee in line with 1.1 
above.

November 2021 PW

1.3 Benchmarking against performance of other councils to be reported to 
DM Committees on six-monthly basis (this is already undertaken 
against councils within the South West Region internally but has not 
previously been reported to Members) 

From October DM 
committees and 
updated when 
MHCLG publish 
data

PW

1.4 Develop, implement and monitor quality assurance/quality control 
measures to improve consistency including a new process where 
senior officers review a sample of reports

December 2021 PW

1.5 Undertake stakeholder analysis and develop channels for customer 
feedback, review and continuous improvement.

January 2022 CB

1.6 Reintroduce Agents and Developers Forum, initially every two months Commenced Aug 
2021

PW

1.7 Create and maintain a DM Process Manual:
• to form part of induction process  
• for regular reference by whole Team 
• to cover applications and enforcement

March 2022 PW

1. Performance 
Management

Purpose: to understand 
how the Service is 
performing, what this 
means for our customers 
(external and internal) 
and to enable the 
Service to continuously 
improve and 
demonstrate consistency 
with clear communication 
with customers  

 

1.8 Adopt DM Customer Charter which sets out our commitment to 
customers and better manage expectations including a 
communications plan in line with the Corporate Strategy. 

October 2021 CB

P
age 75



2.1 Review ‘cost of core service’ against ‘income’. Initial exercise 
undertaken

PW

2.2 Assess full cost of DM Service
 income
 expenditure

December 2021 PW

2. Financial 
Management 

Purpose: to properly 
manage income forecast, 
and to flex resources 
against demand 

2.3 Review arrangements for the Planning Reserve to ensure financial 
resilience and flexibility against future demands. 

December 2021 PW

3.1 Carry out an initial capacity/resource review to identify resources 
needed to deliver an effective service

Completed PW

3.2 Utilise 3.1 above to undertake further analysis and determine optimum 
organisational structure to ensure that resources can be flexed to 
meet changing demands 

January 2022 PW

3. Resource 
Management 

Purpose: to understand 
what resources are 
needed to deliver an 
effective service, deliver 
continuous improvement  
and to ensure flexibility 
to meet changing 
demands

3.3 Identify and set a role-specific target of active applications per officer 
and monitor weekly

October 2021 PW

4.1 A review of the DM IT software has taken place and a new system will 
go live later this year 

Review is 
completed and new 
software system 
being implemented

FIT 
project 

4.2 Review and update website including review of what is published 
online, and build in process for continuous improvement

Review December 
2021 after the new 
IT software has 
gone live.

HS

4.3 Review all templates (including Decision Notices) in the new IT system 
to ensure that they are customer friendly, update if necessary and 
train staff on any changes. 

Review in 
December 2021 
make any changes 
by end of Jan 2022

HS/PW

4. Processes, IT and 
Administration 

Purpose: to ensure that 
there are clear 
processes for all staff 
which are regularly 
reviewed to remain fit for 
purpose and that the 
website is customer 
friendly  

4.4 Draft a list of standard conditions for Decision Notices and train staff 
accordingly 

March 2022 PW

P
age 76



4.5 Review procedural guide for discharge of condition process (and 
include in Manual at 1.7)

October 2022 HS/PH

5.1 Review the DM Training Programme for Members and include 
effective decision-making in planning and chairing skills. Include 
provision for briefing Members on major changes to planning 
legislation.

November 2022 PW/DW
/DF

5.2 Arrange a World Heritage Site Training session (for all WD Members) December 2022 PW/DW

5.2 Newly elected Members to be provided with full training programme 
including information on applications within their ward and weekly 
monitoring lists.

Election 2023 DW/HS

5.3 Arrange a session with all members to identify what DM information 
Members wish to be provided with, and how they would like it to be 
provided, including whether a single point of DM contact for Members 
would be appropriate.  

October 2021 PW

5. Political Leadership

Purpose: effective 
political leadership in 
decision making and 
ensuring the right 
applications are brought 
to scrutiny

5.5 Review of the Delegation Scheme, and Planning Code for Members: 
clear training requirements for Members before participating in 
decision-making and clear process for decision-making and good 
practice guidance. 

May 2021 DF 

6.1 Ensure that all staff have:
 Annual appraisals to set performance targets and actions with mid-

year review 
 Regular PCIs and dialogues to demonstrate continuous 

improvement, ensure professional and personal development, 
wellbeing and other issues are discussed regularly

New Performance 
Framework for all 
staff to be 
implemented from  
November 2021 

CB6. Team Management 

Purpose: effective 
management of staff and 
clarity of expectations 
and accountability; clear 
communications and 
consistency of service 
delivery 

6.2 Weekly Team meetings to discuss and communicate best practices, 
changes in legislation, continuous improvement, share common 
learning points, and consistency of approach  

Ongoing PW

P
age 77



7.1 Team Training & Development Programme to ensure resilience, 
consistency, accuracy, with regular feedback to wider Team

November 2021 PW/CB 

7.2 Legal to feedback to DM & Enforcement appeal decisions to upskill 
officers and Members

Ongoing DF 

7.3 Arrange political awareness training for all Development Management 
staff (enforcement, planning case officers, and case management) 

Arranged  PW/CB

7. Training

Purpose: ensuring that 
all staff have the skills 
they need to do their job 
and to effectively 
communicate with each 
other, Members and our 
customers 

7.4 Ensure all officers are aware of the current Site Visit Protocol, 
delegation scheme, and risk assessment and are undertaking site 
visits accordingly.

Completed May 
2021 

PW

8.1 We have a clear adopted pre-application procedure which works well 
and we have an increase in pre-application submissions that are dealt 
with primarily by dedicated pre-app officers.   The increase in numbers 
has required the provision of additional resource to the pre-app 
caseload and an additional officer has been allocated.

Completed and in 
place 

PW

8.2 Review to see if further additional resource is needed to process the 
increased number of Householder pre-apps.  New officers at an 
appropriate level have been appointed and start in September.

Sept 2021 PW

8. Pre-applications

Purpose: to have a clear, 
well publicised process 
for pre-applications

8.3 Develop  a system to monitor the effectiveness of pre-application 
advice that should encourage more pre-application submissions

March 2022 PW

9.1 Review Validation Checklist and draft new checklist if necessary to 
maximise valid applications.

Completed PW

9.2 Adopt and promote new Validation Checklist.  The checklist is at 
consultation stage with a response deadline of September 2021.

Oct 2021 PW

9.3 Validation training for all officers when new Validation checklist is 
adopted and include process for checklist in Process Manual at 1.7 

Oct 2021 PW/HS

9. Receipt & 
Validation

Purpose:  to ensure 
there is a well-publicised 
process which 
maximises valid 
applications and ensures 
efficient and timely 
registration 

9.4 Invalid Applications: determine baseline target following a review of 
how to minimise invalid apps with a set programme for improvement; 
consider retaining part of fees if application has been returned to 
cover costs.  

Jan 2022 PH/HS

P
age 78



9.5 Identify common reasons for invalid applications and discuss with 
agents either individually and/or through Agents Forum. Invite Lead 
Members to Forum 

Jan 2022 PH/HS

9.6 Set realistic targets within the validation process whilst ensuring that 
applications get to case officers quickly and thereafter monitor 
performance against the targets set

Jan 2022 PH/HS

10.1 Have a clearly documented Allocation system with oversight from 
Head of Practice, and include within the DM Manual as set out at 1.7

Mar 2022 PW

10.2 Introduce a Memorandum of Understanding with Parish and Town 
Councils to ensure timely receipt of local views. 

To parishes in Sept 
2021 and 
implement 

DF

10.3 Review consultee checklist (both internal and external) to ensure the 
right consultees are contacted on the right applications; clear 
guidance on which applications need to be referred to consultees. 

Oct 2021 PW / 
CB

10.3 Develop, implement and monitor service standards and performance 
for internal consultees. 

Jan 2022 PW / 
CB

10. Consultation and 
Allocation

Purpose: Clear allocation 
process to ensure 
applications dealt with 
effectively with clear 
documented consultation 
process

10.4 Review publicity of applications. Mar 2022 PW

11.1 Develop a consistent approach to (and include in Customer Planning 
Charter in 1.8)
 different types of application  
 when a site visit is required
 re-advertising / refusal / determination including the extent of 

revisions that will be accepted during the life of an application.
 negotiations and extensions of time and when applicable / 

monitoring of out of time apps or where an application is not good 
enough first time

Oct 2021 CB/PW11. Considering an 
application

Purpose: to determine 
applications in line with 
national standards and 
local processes and to 
ensure that they are 
managed consistently 

11.2 Hold further workshop with DM staff to consider this element of the 
PAS toolkit to identify any further actions or improvements.   

Nov 2021 PW/CB

12. The Officer Report

Purpose: to ensure 
consistency and quality 

12.1 The Officer Report has been reviewed by the Head of Legal Services 
last year and the suggested changes have been discussed and 
implemented. Staff Training on how to complete the report delivered. 

Completed DF / PW

P
age 79



of reports  12.2 As set out in 1.4 develop a Quality Assurance process for reports 
including:
 a checklist to be completed with reports 
 regular reviews of sample reports by senior officers 

Dec 21 PW

13.1 To have a clear and transparent Delegation Scheme, and monitor 
number of decision going to Committee  

Reviewed May 
2021 and ongoing 

DF/PW 

13.2 Review process for signing off decisions to ensure they are robust and 
risk based  

Jan 2022 PW

13.3 The review of conditions and the introduction of standard conditions at 
4.4 to include minimising the use of pre-commencement conditions.

Mar 2022 PW

13. The Decision and 
Conditions

Purpose: Clear 
Delegation Scheme, 
clear and unambiguous 
decisions 

13.4 Establish a system for applicants to feedback on DM decision-making 
process to enable continuous improvement 

Mar 2022 PW

14. Monitoring and 
Enforcement

Purpose: to ensure that 
there is a clear process 
for enforcement 

14.1 The enforcement element has not been considered in detail at this 
time.  The enforcement team has had a significant change in staff and 
the specialist role is still vacant and is proving difficult to recruit.  A 
number of changes have already taken place, the older cases are 
being actively progressed and the meetings with members have re-
started. A robust process was adopted in September 2019 for 
prioritising cases. 

It is acknowledged that the enforcement process needs to be 
reviewed against the PAS Toolkit and it will be done by the end of 
2021 once the new staff had chance to bed in and will be able to 
actively engage in the process

December 2021 PW /HS 
/CB

15.1 Review appeal administration procedures to ensure all elements of the 
process are captured and a robust process is in place

Oct 2021 PW/PH15. Appeals

Purpose: To ensure that 
the process is managed 
efficiently and effectively 
and to ensure that the 
Councils position is 
defended appropriately.

15.2 As part of 1.2 above provide additional report to DM Committees on 
overall appeal performance and awards of costs.

Nov 2021 PW

P
age 80



P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Hub Committee

Date: 21 September 2021

Title: Waste Collection Frequency Trial

Portfolio Area: Lynn Daniel

Lead Member for Environment

Wards Affected: All

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained:

Date next steps can be taken: After call-in

Authors: Jane Savage & 

Natalie Johnson

Role: Head of Contracts & 
Commissioning 

Senior Specialist (Waste) 

Contact: 01822 813657

jane.savage@swdevon.gov.uk

natalie.johnson@swdevon.gov.uk

 

Recommendations:  

That the Hub Committee

1. Endorses the findings of the trial of three weekly residual 
(black sack) collections.

2. Agrees that the service is not extended to the whole of the 
Borough in spring 2022 and recognises the potential impact 
of making a major service change at a time when significant 
structural changes are expected in the waste industry and 
other external pressures, including the national LGV driver 
shortage. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 14

mailto:jane.savage@swdevon.gov.uk


 3. Thanks the residents on the trial and reverts these 
collections to fortnightly in line with the rest of the Borough.

4. Instructs the Head of Communications to develop a 
communications strategy for 2021-22 and beyond which 
builds on the findings of the trial with the aim of improving 
the Borough’s recycling rate and reducing domestic residual 
waste.

5. That three weekly residual collections be revisited once the 
outcome of the Government Consultation on the National 
Waste Strategy is known.

 

1. Executive summary 

1.1 On 4 June 2019, the Hub Committee approved the establishment of a 
trial of reduced frequency (3 weekly) residual collections to 1000 
households. The trial which began in February 2020 was designed to 
provide the information necessary on which to base a decision whether to 
introduce reduced black sack collection frequencies across the Borough.

1.2 Despite two extensions to the trial, the findings are not conclusive due 
to the skewing of data caused by the effects of the Coronavirus 
lockdowns. This has made it difficult to accurately predict any savings 
from, and the income and costs of, a full introduction across the Borough.

1.3 A second round of the national Waste Strategy consultations have 
been completed since the last report. The outcome will change legislation 
through provisions in the Environment Bill. Whilst it is not expected that 
authorities that already have 3 weekly collections would be forced to 
revert back to a minimum 2 week frequency, it is not ruled out at this 
stage. What is clear is that the response from Government is likely to 
change the amount and types of waste collected by Local Authorities in 
the future.

1.4 Currently, as widely reported through the media, there is a UK 
workforce shortage which has resulted in a paucity of HGV/LGV drivers 
which we rely on to deliver our waste services. This shortage is not 
expected to be short lived and a major service change at this time would 
carry additional risk.

1.5 In conclusion, the report recommends that the reduced frequency 
residual service should not be extended to all households across the 
Borough at this time and that the trial is halted. However, the outcome of 
the trial does suggest that residents themselves would not be averse to 
reduced frequency residual collections if introduced at a future date. It 
also shows that there is potential to increase recycling rates and reduce 
residual with focussed resident engagement.

Page 84



2. Background

Trial 
2.1 The trial started on 25 February 2020 and involves 
approximately 1,000 households in the wards of Bridestowe, 
Okehampton North, Okehampton South and Tavistock South East. 
The trial has been subsequently extended twice because of the 
difficulty of interpreting the information received against a backdrop 
of a change in consumption habits due to national lockdowns.

2.2 The Hub Committee requested this report detailing the potential 
income/costs and national waste strategy impacts, so that a final decision 
can be made on whether a three weekly refuse collection should be 
implemented throughout the Borough from spring 2022 (Minute *HC86 
refers).

National Waste Strategy
2.3 Since the last extension to the trial was approved by the Hub 
Committee in March 2021, there has been a further round of Government 
waste strategy consultations. These consultations with Local Authorities, 
the waste industry, including waste producers, and the general public are 
designed to inform the future direction of waste production, collection and 
treatment. 

2.4 In its Consultation on consistency in Household and Business 
Recycling in England, the Government guidance states it will consider 
whether a recommended minimum service standard of alternate weekly 
collection for residual waste might be appropriate. 

2.5 Other areas being considered are the Extended Producer 
Responsibility consultation for packaging which intends to make producers 
pay the full costs of dealing with the waste they produce, and a Deposit 
Return Scheme for drinks containers to improve recycling rates and 
reduce litter. Changes in both of these areas are expected to result in a 
transformation of the type and amount of waste put out on the kerbside 
by householders and therefore will require Local Authorities to adapt the 
local infrastructure for waste collection.

HGV/LGV Driver Shortage
2.6 According to the Road Haulage Association, there is now a shortage of 
more than 100,000 drivers in the UK. The number includes a substantial 
proportion of drivers who have retired along with those from EU member 
states who were living and working in the UK pre-Covid and Brexit.

2.7 The situation is so severe that the Government has announced a 
series of measures designed to tackle the problem which is impacting 
waste services across the country. Many authorities, including 
neighbouring authorities, are struggling to complete rounds with some 
suspending collections such as bulky and garden waste. 

Page 85



2.8 This fits with the Council themes of:
Environment
Council
Communities

3. Outcomes 

Residents’ Attitudes
3.1 Conducting the trial has allowed for a comprehensive range of 
information to be gathered, which will be useful in informing the shape of 
future waste services in West Devon.  

3.2 An insight into the attitudes of residents on the trial was gained from 
the public surveys in tandem with consideration of the volume of calls and 
complaints received from the trial households. 

3.3 Surveys were undertaken in February 2020, August 2020 and 
February 2021 and the conclusions reported to the Hub Committee in 
March 2021. To recap, with time spent on the trial, the public displayed a 
greater understanding of the reasoning behind it and initial fears were in 
the main allayed. However, by the final survey, some residents continued 
to report that they had problems storing the waste and there was some 
confusion over collection days.

3.4 The authority received relatively few calls and complaints relating to 
the trial when it was first introduced and these are now negligible. 

3.5 Members were concerned that the number of fly tips would increase 
as a result of the residual waste restrictions and so the number of fly tips 
comprising of domestic black sack waste has been considered. Whilst the 
evidence shows there has been an increase since the start of the trial, this 
corresponds with an increase in the total number of fly tipping incidents in 
the Borough and an increase nationally over the same time period and so 
is unlikely to be attributable to the trial itself. It is worth noting that for 
the first quarter of this year, April to June 2021, domestic black sack fly 
tips have reduced compared with the same period over the previous 2 
years (2019-20 and 2020-21).

3.6 Taking all these factors into account, it is therefore possible to assume 
that introducing a reduced frequency service across the Borough would be 
met with an initial level of objection which would subside after a relatively 
short period and would not attract more fly tipping. 

Effect on Recycling
3.7 Less conclusive is the information gained from tonnage data. As 
previously reported, due to the effects of the coronavirus lockdowns, 
consumer habits have changed significantly over the past 3 years 2019, 
2020, and 2021. This has resulted in a rise in domestic waste attributed to 
the combination of residents being confined mainly to the home and a 
change in shopping habits. 

Page 86



3.8 There appears to be little correlation between tonnages for each of the 
waste streams in the trial areas and the rest of the Borough. For this 
reason, it is impossible to predict with any accuracy how tonnages would 
react if the scheme was introduced Borough-wide. 

Financial Considerations
3.9 Set out below are the main areas of potential savings, income and 
costs of a reduced frequency collection:

a) Income from disposal savings 
b) Income from recycling credits
c) Income/costs from sales of materials
d) Costs associated with additional recycling vehicles.

3.10 All of these factors are determined by actual tonnages and as noted 
in 3.8 above, it has not been possible to calculate with any degree of 
accuracy what these tonnages may be and therefore the potential savings 
or additional costs though initial indications from Devon County Council 
showed a saving on disposal of between £100,000 and £150,000. 

4. Options available and consideration of risk 
4.1 Since the trial began, the context has now changed with the 
completion of a second round of national waste consultations. The waste 
industry is awaiting the next steps to be announced by Government which 
are expected to comprise the biggest change in national waste policy for a 
number of years and will result in a change to the types and amounts of 
waste collected both on the kerbside and via the bring banks. 

4.2 The shortage of HGV/LGV drivers will not be resolved over the short 
term as there is a considerable backlog in testing.

4.3 The tonnage data gathered in West Devon is not totally conclusive. 
However, West Devon already enjoys a high recycling rate which 
increased by 2% to 55% in 2020-2021. In addition, West Devon residents 
put out a relatively low amount of residual waste compared with most 
other local authorities. Although, other authorities that have moved to a 3 
weekly residual collection have all seen a significant increase in recycling 
and reduction in residual waste, it is unlikely that West Devon would see 
the same gains as other authorities starting from a lower baseline. 

4.4 There is a risk that any assessment of expected resources made at 
this point in time for a full introduction, such as vehicles, crews and depot 
capacity, would become not fit for purpose in the near future due to the 
reasons stated above in 4.1 and 4.3.  

5.  Proposed Way Forward 

5.1 The trial has provided good insight into how residents would react to a 
service change of this type. There is therefore scope for improvement by 

Page 87



building on this insight to develop a comprehensive communications 
strategy aimed at increasing recycling and reducing residual waste. 

5.2 However, taking into account the development of the national waste 
strategy, the current driver shortage and the inconclusive data, it is 
proposed that the recommendations are approved. 

6. Implications 
Implications Relevant 

to 
proposals 
Y/N 

Details and proposed measures to address 

Legal/Governance Y The Authority has a duty to arrange for collection 
and disposal of household waste. The legislative 
framework is to be found in the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990, Waste Framework Directive 
2008, and Controlled Waste Regulations 2012. 

Financial Y The saving gained from ceasing the trial is 
approximately £600 per month.

The Revenue Budget for 2021/22 included potential 
additional income of £50,000 in 21/22 and a 
further £75,000 in 22/23 for income from three 
weekly trials. This was stated that this was 
dependent on the outcome of the results from the 
three weekly trials.

If the Hub Committee agree that the service is not 
extended to the whole of the Borough in Spring 
2022, this will be reported in the Revenue Budget 
Monitoring report that this income will not be 
achieved.

Risk Y The risks are set out in section 4 of this report. 
Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications
Equality and 
Diversity

N/A  

Safeguarding N/A  
Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder

N/A

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing

N/A

Other 
implications

N/A 

Supporting Information
Appendices:
None

Background Papers:
None

Page 88


	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	6 Hub Committee Forward Plan
	8 ORCS Funding - Electric Car Charging Points
	9 Section 106 Agreement Expenditure
	Appendix A – Summary of S106 Contributions as at 31st March 2021, with predicted timescales for expenditure
	Appendix B – Section 106 expenditure in previous financial years
	Appendix C – Flowchart showing the process for spending S106 contributions for affordable housing
	Appendix D – Application form for S106 funding for affordable housing

	11 Month 4 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2021/2022
	Appendix A – Schedule of Reserves (Earmarked Reserves and Unearmarked Reserves).
	Appendix B – Savings/Additional income schedule

	12 Capital Budget Monitoring 2021/2022
	Exempt Appendix A – Details of capital expenditure to 31st July 2021
	Exempt Appendix B – Details of Exempt schemes approved as part of the 2021/22 Capital Budget

	13 Planning Improvement Plan
	Appendix A: Development Management and Planning Enforcement Improvement Plan

	14 Waste Collection Frequency Trial

